Selenium-Binding Protein 1 in Prostate Cancer

BY

MOSTAFA MOHAMED ZAKARIA ELHODAKY

M.D., TANTA UNIVERSITY

EGYPT, 2011

THESIS

Submitted as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Pathology in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Chicago, 2020

Chicago, Illinois

Defense Committee:

Alan Diamond, Advisor Larisa Nonn, Chair Andre Kajdacsy-Balla Donald Vander Griend Robert Sargis Lisa Tussing-Humphreys, Medicine

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people to whom I am very grateful. I am thankful for my wife, Shimaa, who has consistently supported me, and her inspiration and influence in my life have been crucial in making me the person I am. I am thankful for my daughter, Celina, who has demonstrated to me by example how to be curious and exploratory, and who still does not believe that I have been a student for the past few years. I am thankful for my family, especially my parents to whom I dedicate this work. They have always supported my professional and personal aspirations, and continue to do so as I make the next steps in my career.

I am especially grateful for my research advisor, Alan Diamond, who has put a lot of time and effort into my training and has fully supported my professional development as a physicianscientist. I am deeply grateful for his tremendous support through my residency application, interviews, and matching process. Alan has demonstrated by example how to not only be a great scientist but also an outstanding mentor and human being.

I am also thankful for my committee members, Alan Diamond, Larisa Nonn, Andre Kajdacsy-Balla, Donald Vander Griend, Robert Sargis, and Lisa Tussing-Humphreys, who have been patient and helpful through the process of designing and executing my thesis work, allowing me to achieve a quality of work that I may never have reached without their guidance and support.

I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to my lab members, both past and present. I am grateful for my fellow graduate student, Lenny Hong, who has been a great companion and friend through this journey. I would also like to acknowledge Shrinidhi Kadkol, who was essential in accomplishing part of the molecular cloning needed for this project. I have been fortunate to have several outstanding mentors throughout my training and to whom I am deeply grateful. I am thankful to Alan Diamond, Andre Kadjacsy-Balla, Peter Gann, and Vikas Mehta for all of the tremendous support and mentorship. I would like to acknowledge the UIC Department of Pathology for creating such a pleasant, nurturing environment that is conducive to professional success for everyone.

I am also thankful to the UIC Center for Clinical and Translational Science (CCTS) for supporting my graduate studies and awarding me the CCTS Pre-doctoral Education for Clinical and Translational Scientists (PECTS) Fellowship.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

The introduction places my dissertation questions in the context of the larger field and highlights the significance of these questions. Parts of the introduction in Chapter 1 were previously published as a literature review in the *International Journal of Molecular Sciences (IJMS)*. Elhodaky, M., and Diamond, A. M. (2018) Selenium-Binding Protein 1 in Human Health and Disease. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 19(11), 3437. DOI: 10.3390/ijms19113437. Both Alan M Diamond, who is my thesis advisor, and I contributed to the writing of this published literature review.

The results contain all my unpublished data representing a series of my own experiments directed at determining the biological and metabolic functions of SBP1 in prostate cancer cells, targeted at identifying the likely mechanism(s) of action as a tumor suppressor in this disease. Shrinidhi Kadkol helped perform the site-directed mutagenesis to generate the C57G-SBP1 construct. I used the generated construct to transfect PC-3 cells to conduct study experiments, as shown in figures 5, 7, and 8.

The discussion represents my analysis of the research presented in this thesis/dissertation. The overarching conclusions and future directions are also discussed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INT	RODUCTION
A.	Background1
B.	SBP1 discovery
C.	The role of Se in SBP1
D.	SBP1 is a methanethiol oxidase
E.	SBP1 levels are reduced in cancer, and low levels are predictive of clinical outcome5
1	. SBP1 levels and distribution in prostate cancer tissues
2	Is SBP1 a tumor suppressor?
3	. Is SBP1 downregulation an early or late event in the process of tumorigenesis?
F.	Physiological roles for SBP19
G.	Roles for SBP1 in non-neoplastic diseases
H.	The transcriptional regulation of SBP111
I.	Prostate cancer metabolism14
II. M	ATERIALS AND METHODS16
A.	Cells and culturing conditions16
B.	Real-time quantitative PCR17
C.	Plasmid construction17
D.	Immunofluorescence
E.	Western blotting
F.	Metabolic assays
G.	Cell proliferation and growth in semi-solid media20
H.	Wound healing assay

I.	Statistical analysis	21	
III. RESULTS			
A.	SBP1 and energy metabolism	22	
B.	The effects of SBP1 and selenium binding on cellular transformation	28	
C.	The metabolic and biological function of the products of SBP1 enzyme activity	34	
D.	The transcriptional regulation of SBP1	37	
IV. DISCUSSION			
V. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS			
VI. CITED LITERATURE			
APPENDIX			
VITA70			

LIST OF FIGURES

FigurePage
1. SBP1 over-expression does not affect the proliferation of PC-3 cells
2. Over-expression of SBP1 alters energy metabolism in PC-3 cells23
3. Targeting SBP1 to the nucleus or the cytoplasm25
4. SBP1 activates AMPK in PC-3 cells27
5. Ectopic expression of SBP1 attenuates anchorage-independent growth of PC-3 cells30
6. Ectopic expression of SBP1 attenuates the migration of PC-3 cells in a scratch assay31
7. Ectopic expression of C57G-SBP1 attenuates the migration of PC-3 cells in a scratch assay32
8. C57G-SBP1 activates AMPK PC-3 cells
9. Pharmacological activation of AMPK attenuates migration of PC-3 cells35
10. NaHS and H ₂ O ₂ phosphorylate AMPK and ACC
11. HNF4α suppresses SBP1 expression in LNCaP prostate cancer cells
12. Dihydrotestosterone (DHT) suppresses <i>SBP1</i> expression in LAPC-4 cells43
13. Illustration of the key findings of the study

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	Acetyl-coA carboxylase
ACT	Anhydrochlortetracycline
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	AMP-activate protein kinase
ARE	Antioxidant response elements
AR	Androgen receptor
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
β-actin	Beta-actin
BD	Behçet's disease
BP	Base pair
CAN	Chronic allograft nephropathy
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CTRL	Control
CYP3A4	Cytochrome P450 3A4
Cys	Cysteine
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DHT	Dihydrotestosterone
DMS	Dimethylsulfide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Dorso	Dorsomorphin
DOX	Doxycycline

eIF4E	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E
ER	Estrogen receptor
ETC	Electron transport chain
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FCCP	Carbonyl cyanide 4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
Gly	Glycine
GPx1	Glutathione peroxidase 1
GSK3B	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1a
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HNF4α	Hepatic nuclear factor 4-alpha
HSP60	Heat shock protein 60
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
H_2S	Hydrogen sulfide
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
KD	Knockdown
kDa	Kilodalton
KLK3	Kallikrein related peptidase 3
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MTO	Methanethiol oxidase

ix

Met	Metformin
MT	Methanethiol
NaHS	Sodium hydrogen sulfide
NES	Nuclear export sequence
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NLS	Nuclear localization sequence
NS	Non-significant
OCR	Oxygen consumption rate
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
р	p value
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PIN	Prostate intraepithelial neoplasia
PSA	Prostate-specific antigen
PXR	Pregnane X receptor
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RPLP0	60S acidic ribosomal protein P0
RT-qPCR	Real time quantitative PCR
S ⁷⁹	Serine-79
SBP1	Selenium-binding protein 1
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Se	Selenium
SEM	Standard error of the mean
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
TBST	Tris-buffered saline with Tween
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
Thr ¹⁷²	Threonine-172
VDU1	Von Hippel–Lindau protein-interacting deubiquitinating enzyme 1
Veh	Vehicle

SUMMARY

Selenium-binding protein 1 (SBP1) is a highly-conserved protein that was first discovered in mouse liver in 1989 by Bansal et al. due to its ability to bind selenium. SBP1 was found to be reduced in several cancer types compared to normal or benign tissues, including cancers of the thyroid, lung, stomach, liver, kidney, ovary, breast, prostate, colon, head and neck, bladder, and malignant melanoma. In addition to being lower in cancers, the degree of reduction of SBP1 expression in resected tissues is often predictive of how long a patient will be cancer-free and survive their disease. Reduced SBP1 levels have been correlated with poor survival in several types of carcinomas, including colorectal, gastric, nasopharyngeal, pulmonary, renal, and bladder cancers. Additionally, reduced levels of nuclear SBP1 were previously shown to be associated with a higher prostate cancer tumor grade and a greater likelihood of recurrence following prostatectomy. It is, therefore, likely that SBP1 may exert a tumor suppressor function in these tissues including prostate, and its loss or downregulation may facilitate the process of carcinogenesis.

Prostate cancer is the most common cancer, and the second leading cause of cancer-related death in men. The Krebs cycle of the normal prostate is inhibited in favor of the production of citrate energy, therefore distinguishing the energy metabolism of the normal prostate from that of other organs. This inhibition of Krebs cycle is generally relieved during prostate cancer progression, hence allowing a metabolic shift towards oxidative phosphorylation, a process that is crucial for prostate cancer cell survival and proliferation.

The broad goal of the research described in this thesis was the discovery of events that contribute to the progression of prostate cancer, and the role of SBP1 in this process. Using an *in silico* analysis, it was determined that the promoter region of *SBP1* contains putative binding sites

for the HNF4 α transcription factor. The potential for HNF4 α to regulate SBP1 expression was supported by the evidence that HNF4 α inhibition resulted in a dose-response increase in the levels of SBP1 mRNA and protein, therefore identifying HNF4 α as a novel negative regulator of SBP1 expression in prostate cancer cells. Additionally, the elevated expression of $HNF4\alpha$ in prostate cancer compared to benign tissues may identify HNF4 α as an oncogene in this disease. The consequences of altering the levels of SBP1 were investigated by ectopically expressing SBP1 in PC-3 prostate cancer cells. SBP1 over-expression in PC-3 cells attenuated their anchorageindependent growth and the migration in culture, both properties associated with transformation. One mechanism by which SBP1 impacts prostate cells is by altering cellular energy metabolism to become less reliant on OXPHOS, as evidenced by the reduction in oxygen consumption of cells when SBP1 is over-expressed. Evidence was generated that the reaction products of SBP1, H₂O₂ and H₂S, can activate AMPK, a major regulator of pathways of energy homeostasis. However, it remains to be determined whether the SBP1 reaction products activate AMPK directly or whether AMPK activation is a consequence of the reaction products suppressing mitochondrial OXPHOS and ATP production, which would subsequently activate AMPK. Uncovering the molecular events orchestrating the metabolic transformation occurring in prostate cancer is essential to future advances in understanding prostate cancer and identifying potential novel therapeutic targets.

I. INTRODUCTION

Parts of this chapter were previously published as a literature review in the *International Journal of Molecular Sciences (IJMS)*. Elhodaky, M., and Diamond, A. M. (2018) Selenium-Binding Protein 1 in Human Health and Disease. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 19(11), 3437. DOI: 10.3390/ijms19113437

A. Background

Selenium (Se) is a non-metallic, essential trace element for many organisms, including humans. Se has long been recognized for its potential in cancer prevention, as evidenced by multiple animal, and human epidemiological studies that have reported an inverse association between Se exposure and cancer risk (1-8). Many mechanisms have been suggested for the chemopreventive effect of Se (9-11), including DNA hypomethylation (12), blocked cell cycle progression, enhanced cell death, decreased cell proliferation, increased glutathione peroxidase or thioredoxin reductases activities (13), modulated endoplasmic reticulum stress response (14), and enhanced DNA repair (15). Furthermore, Se has been found to play a key role in mammalian development (16) and immune function (17,18). Low levels of Se may be a contributing factor to several non-neoplastic pathologies, including male infertility (19), heart disease (20), inflammation (21,22), and neuromuscular disorders (23).

It is generally recognized that important cellular and organismal functions of Se are likely mediated by the action of selenoproteins constituting the mammalian selenoproteome (24). While the functions of many selenoproteins are still unknown, they likely have a significant role in human health and disease. Human selenoproteins are generally classified into three categories (11,25). The first category includes proteins in which Se is cotranslationally incorporated into the elongating peptide as the amino acid selenocysteine in response to an in-frame UGA codon in the corresponding messenger RNA (26). The human selenoproteome contains 25 genes (25). The second category consists of proteins in which Se is incorrectly substituted for sulfur in sulfur-containing amino acids due to the similarity in structure between these two elements. The third category is composed of selenium-binding proteins that bind Se by an unknown mechanism. The studies reported in this thesis are primarily focused on one member of the latter category, selenium-binding protein 1 (SBP1, SELENBP1, hSP56).

B. SBP1 discovery

SBP1 was first discovered in mouse liver in 1989 by Bansal et al. using ⁷⁵Se labeling. Normal 6-week old female BALB/c mice were given a single intraperitoneal injection of ⁷⁵Se in the form of Na₂SeO₃. After 40 hours, animals were euthanized, and livers were harvested for preparation of liver cytosols, which were then used for a combination of gel filtration, ionexchange chromatography, and SDS-PAGE techniques. This led to identification of a seleniumbinding protein of apparent molecular weight of 56 kDa (27), which was designated as SBP1.

The full-length human *SBP1* cDNA clone was first described by Chang et al. in 1997 and determined to be 1668 base pair (bp) long with an open reading frame encoding 472 amino acids (28). *SBP1* is abundantly expressed in various human tissues, including liver, lung, prostate, colon, and pancreas, while moderate levels were detected in spleen, heart, and ovary. In contrast, its expression was barely detectable in thymus, testis, and peripheral blood leukocytes (29). SBP1 is a highly conserved protein. Flemetakis et al. reported that the predicted amino acid sequence of SBP1 is conserved in both plants and animals, ranging from 77 to 88% in plants, while the identity between the plants and mammalian proteins ranged from 57 to 60% (30). By comparison, this

degree of homology is higher than other conserved proteins, such as HSP60, γ -tubulin, apoptotic cell death 1 protein, and elF4E whose identities of the plant and human proteins are 44, 49, 48, and 52%, respectively (30). The homology between the mammalian *SBP1* of mice and humans is 86% (30), indicating that the potential fundamental cellular and molecular functions for SBP1 are also conserved across different species. SBP1 is very similar to another selenium-associated protein, selenium liver binding protein (AP-56, SBP2), whose sequence differs by only 14 residues from SBP1 and is encoded by a distinct gene (31). AP-56 is implicated in the detoxification of acetaminophen in the liver (31). Although these genes are regulated differently, their similarity may indicate a role for SBP1 in detoxification.

C. The role of Se in SBP1

The form of Se in SBP1 is currently unknown. Se is stably associated with SBP1, probably through a selenosulfide bond (perselenide), as indicated by the binding of Se to SBP1 being reversed by the addition of a reducing agent during SDS-PAGE (32). Based on structural and functional studies, it was suggested that one cysteine in SBP1 was the likely binding site for the Se molecule, the cysteine at position 57 (33). Converting cysteine 57 in SBP1 to a glycine and ectopically expressing that protein in human HCT116 cells, that do not express detectable SBP1 levels, indicated that the loss of the cysteine reduced the half-life of the protein, induced mitochondrial damage, and attenuated the degree of phosphorylation of signaling proteins such as p53 and GSK3β compared to the native protein expressed at similar levels (34).

The Se in SBP1 may facilitate its interaction with other proteins. SBP1 physically interacts with von Hippel–Lindau protein-interacting deubiquitinating enzyme 1 (VDU1), which plays a role in proteasomal protein degradation (32,35). This indicates that SBP1, via its interaction with

VDU1, may have a role in ubiquitination/deubiquitination-mediated protein degradation and detoxification pathways. When the Se moiety was dissociated from SBP1 by the addition of ß-mercaptoethanol, the interaction with VDU1 was completely blocked, indicating that Se may be essential for the interaction of these two proteins (32). While the Se moiety is likely required for its interaction with VDU1, the inclusion of Se in SBP1 does not appear to be essential for functioning as methanethiol oxidase (MTO), a recently-discovered novel human SBP1 enzyme activity that metabolizes sulfur-containing molecules (36).

D. SBP1 is a methanethiol oxidase

The enzymatic function of SBP1 was recently revealed by investigators examining the genetic determinants of extraoral halitosis, bad breath (36). The authors analyzed breaths and body fluids of five affected individuals with extraoral halitosis from three unrelated families using NMR spectroscopy and gas chromatography with a sulfur-specific detector. All patients exhibited elevated levels of methanethiol (MT), dimethylsulfide (DMS), dimethylsulfoxide, and dimethylsulfone in breaths and body fluids (36). The authors postulated that the accumulation of these compounds was due to a defect in a protein that oxidizes MT, leading to its accumulation in affected individuals. Methanethiol oxidases (MTOs) have not previously been reported in humans, but *SBP1* was identified as a candidate gene for extraoral halitosis by searching for human sequences that were similar to the gene encoding an MT-metabolizing protein previously recognized in methylotrophic bacteria, the *mtoX* gene. This effort revealed a 26% sequence identity and a homology of 54% between the two genes (36). Subsequent sequencing of *SBP1* in patients DNAs revealed four different biallelic mutations in the five patients (from three unrelated families), that were predicted to be pathogenic (1039G>T, 481+1G>A, 673G>T, and 985C>T).

Fibroblasts from these patients had significantly reduced SBP1 protein levels and undetectable MTO enzymatic activity compared to the control cells (36).

MTO converts MT to H_2O_2 , formaldehyde, and hydrogen sulfide (H_2S), the latter is a gaseous signaling molecule with distinct functions at different cellular concentrations (37,38). At low concentrations, H_2S stimulates mitochondrial electron transport in mammalian cells, increasing oxygen consumption (39). At high concentrations, H_2S is toxic through the inhibition of mitochondrial respiratory-chain complex IV, and consequently reduces oxygen consumption (39). H_2S has been proposed as a therapy for multiple disorders by suppressing inflammation, affecting apoptotic pathways, increasing anti-oxidant defenses, and vasodilatation (37,40,41). It is quite conceivable that many of the consequences of SBP1 expression can be due to the effects on H_2S levels as well as the other products of the MTO-mediated reaction, on a broad spectrum of physiological endpoints.

E. SBP1 levels are reduced in cancer, and low levels are predictive of clinical outcome

One of the striking observations about SBP1 is the diversity of the types of cancers in which SBP1 was found to be reduced compared to normal or benign tissues (reviewed in (42)), including cancers of the thyroid (43), lung (44), stomach (45,46), liver (47), kidney (48), ovary (49-51), breast (52), prostate (53,54), colon (55,56), head and neck (57), bladder (58), and malignant melanoma (59). In addition to being lower in cancers, the degree of reduction of SBP1 in resected tissues is often predictive of how long a patient will be cancer-free and survive their disease (42). Reduced SBP1 levels have been correlated with poor survival in several types of carcinomas, including colorectal (55,60), gastric (46), nasopharyngeal (57), pulmonary (44), renal (48), bladder (58), and prostate (61) cancers. Recently, a search for genetic variations in

selenoprotein genes revealed that a polymorphism in the gene for SBP1, along with variations in the genes of selenocysteine encoding genes, were associated with prostate cancer aggressiveness at diagnosis (62). The exception to this pattern is ovarian cancer, where higher levels of SBP1 were associated with poor survival (50).

1. SBP1 levels and distribution in prostate cancer tissues

In addition to its levels, the distribution of SBP1 between cellular compartments may be relevant to cancer etiology. The associations between prostatic SBP1 levels, tumor grade, and disease recurrence following prostatectomy were investigated using a tissue microarray containing tissue from more than 200 prostate cancer patients who experienced biochemical recurrence (rising PSA) after prostatectomy and matched control patients whose cancer did not recur (61). Reduced SBP1 levels were associated with a higher likelihood of prostate cancer recurrence, as has been seen in other cancer types. However, a lower nuclear-to-cytoplasmic distribution of SBP1 was associated with a higher tumor grade (Gleason score) (61). These results indicate that sequestration of SBP1 in a particular cellular compartment may restrict access to relevant substrates, or the protein has different functions at these locations. Providing additional support for the role of SBP1 in prostate cancer, a study of 722 patients at Dana-Farber Cancer Institute identified an SBP1 polymorphism associated with an increased risk for aggressive prostate cancer among men with localized or locally advanced disease (62).

2. Is SBP1 a tumor suppressor?

The frequent loss of SBP1 in cancer and the association of reduced SBP1 levels with greater mortality could imply that SBP1 is a tumor suppressor. Alternatively, its loss or

downregulation may be a consequence of cancer development and progression, and the reduced levels represent a mere "bystander effect." Data supporting the direct role of SBP1 in cancer comes from studies where its levels are altered in cells and consequences relevant to transformation and tumorigenesis are revealed. Over-expressing SBP1 in colon and gastric cancer cells has generally yielded results consistent with a tumor suppressor function, including reduced growth in semisolid media and decreased tumorigenicity in xenograft studies using immune-deficient mice (45,54,61,63,64). When over-expressed in lung cancer cells, SBP1 reduced proliferation and induced greater apoptosis compared to control cells only when the cells were challenged with H_2O_2 (47). Some of the phenotypic consequences of over-expressing SBP1 may be due to the downstream activation of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Over-expression of SBP1 in HCT116 human colon cancer cells resulted in the increased phosphorylation of p53 (61). In addition to the phosphorylation of p53, SBP1 over-expression in the same cells resulted in the differential expression of 132 proteins, many are associated with energy metabolism and MAPK, Wnt, NFκB, and Notch signaling (63). This same study reported that the expression of SBP1 resulted in the reduction of TWIST1, a critical regulator of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis.

Consistent with over-expression data, either knocking down *Sbp1* or inactivating the gene using CRISPR/Cas9 editing in mouse lung cancer cells and injecting these cells into syngeneic hosts increased the size of tumors obtained compared to controls, although the number of tumors was not increased (65). Knockout mice that are null for *Sbp1* exhibit very limited pathology and do not develop tumors (66). However, examining the ovaries from these animals by gene expression microarrays indicated the increased expression of several genes associated with ovarian carcinogenesis, including *Notch1* and *Fas1* (66). Less clear is why the expression of tumor suppressor genes such as *Apc*, *RB1*, and *Trp53* was also enhanced in the ovaries from these mice.

Collectively, studies altering the levels of SBP1 provide substantial evidence that SBP1 serves as a tumor suppressor, and its loss or downregulation during cancer development contributes to disease development or progression.

3. Is SBP1 downregulation an early or late event in the process of tumorigenesis?

Given the data presented above indicating the frequent downregulation of SBP1 in cancers and its association with poor outcomes, it raises the issue of whether SBP1 loss occurs early in cancer development or late in the process, contributing to cancer progression. This issue was investigated by Zhang et al., who examined SBP1 levels in tissues classified as gastric cancer, precursor lesions, and matched controls of corresponding non-neoplastic epithelial tissues (67). SBP1 was reduced in most of the gastric cancer tissues compared to its abundant expression in matched non-neoplastic controls and precursor lesions, including tissues obtained from gastric ulcers, gastric polyps, as well as tissues presenting with chronic atrophic gastritis, intestinal metaplasia and dysplasia (67). SBP1 expression was similar in tissues with different levels of intestinal metaplasia or dysplasia, indicating that the reduction of SBP1 levels may be a late event associated with gastric carcinoma progression from normal gastric epithelium or premalignant lesions (67). These results are consistent with those of Kim et al. who observed much lower levels of SBP1 in colorectal carcinomas compared to matched controls of normal tissues and colon adenomas, supporting the notion that SBP1 loss is a late event during tumorigenesis (60). In addition, changes in the levels of proteins that occur during the progression of human squamous lung cancer were investigated using isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantitation labeling combined with 2D LC-MS/MS (68). SBP1 levels were determined by western blotting and immunohistochemistry and shown to be progressively lost during bronchial epithelial cancer progression (68).

In contrast to the data obtained examining gastric, bronchial, and colonic tissues, results have also been reported indicating that the reduction in SBP1 expression may be an early event in the evolution of some tumor types, including ovarian cancer (50) and uterine leiomyoma (69). Huang et al. identified SBP1 to be the most significantly reduced protein in ovarian cancer cell lines, including DOV13, OVCA429, OVCA882, TOV112D, and SKOV3 using a membrane proteome profiling analysis (50). However, relatively low levels of SBP1 were also observed in the immortalized human ovarian cell line, HOSE2089, indicating that the reduction of SBP1 may have occurred during the immortalization process (50). SBP1 expression was also approximately 4-fold lower in leiomyoma samples compared to normal myometrium, as determined by western blotting and immunohistochemistry (69). However, SBP1 levels were similar in tissues obtained from patients with proliferative secretory and atrophic endometrium in either leiomyoma or normal myometrium. These contrasting results may indicate distinct roles of SBP1 in the development of cancers of different origins.

F. Physiological roles for SBP1

The impact of SBP1 on normal biological processes and pathologies other than cancer may be due to roles in the modulation of cellular redox homeostasis. The SBP1 amino acid sequence contains two bis (cysteinyl) sequence motifs, Cys-X-X-Cys, at Cys5-X-X-Cys8, and Cys80-X-X-Cys83 shown to be a characteristic feature among several proteins which are involved in modulating the cellular redox state *in vivo* (70). In addition, SBP1 may also modulate the redox state of the extracellular environment. Experimental data in support of this come from a study where the knockdown of *SBP1* in MCF-7 breast cancer and HC116 colon cancer cells by siRNA resulted in increased levels of H₂O₂ and superoxide ion, leading to enhanced apoptosis when cells were exposed to selenite (71). The authors attributed this effect to the significant increase in extracellular glutathione in the culture media. Changes in either the intracellular or extracellular environment can potentially impact a broad range of biological processes responsive to reactive oxygen in signaling pathways and contribute to the pathology associated with SBP1 dysregulation.

SBP1 has also been implicated in the late stages of intra-Golgi transport. Using an *in vitro* intra-Golgi cell-free transport assay, both endogenous and recombinant SBP1 (rSBP1) exhibited transport activity in the cell-free assay, and the addition of antibodies directed against SBP1 abolished this activity (72). These data indicate that SBP1 may be regulating vesicular intra-Golgi transport, particularly at the docking or fusions stages (72).

G. Roles for SBP1 in non-neoplastic diseases

Several studies have indicated a potential role for SBP1 in neurobiology. SBP1 has been localized at the tips of rapidly extending protrusions in T98G glioblastoma multiforme cells *in vitro* (73). Cell protrusive motility, which is tightly associated with actin filament polymerization, is an essential function for multiple cellular processes, including cell proliferation and migration. Monomeric G-actin, but not filamentous F-actin, was shown to be recruited to the SBP1-positive tip, indicating that the recruitment of SBP1 and G-actin at the cell margin precedes actin polymerization (73). In addition, SBP1 recruitment to the cell margin was observed to precede that of G-actin. The extension of the protrusion will stop when G-actin polymerizes to F-actin at the protruding edges; hence, SBP1 and G-actin disappear from these margins. SBP1 also localized to the growing tips of neurites in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells *in vitro* (73), possibly indicating a role for SBP1 in neuronal cell outgrowth.

Changes in the levels of SBP1 in neuronal tissues may implicate the protein in several neuropathologies. *SBP1* mRNA was reported to be elevated in the frontal cortex of patients with

schizophrenia, indicating a potential specialized role in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and the central nervous system (74-76). Genetic data have also implicated SBP1 in the risk of schizophrenia as two single nucleotide polymorphisms in the *SBP1* gene (rs2800953 and rs10788804) have been identified as susceptibility loci for schizophrenia in a family-wide association study (77). This, and a report of plasma SBP1 protein levels being decreased in patients with recent-onset schizophrenia (78), collectively indicate a potential specialized role for SBP1 in the pathophysiology of this disease. Whether these data indicate a role for SBP1 in the proper functioning of the central nervous system or the potential neuroprotective effect of Se against oxidative and excitatory brain damage (79) remains to be determined.

SBP1 may also be involved with the pathogenesis of glaucoma. Elevated levels of SBP1 have been associated with elevated ocular pressure (80). It was also identified as a differentially expressed gene in datasets comparing transcripts in glaucoma to normal control tissues, which has been verified in a rat model of acute elevated intraocular pressure (81). SBP1 was also identified as a novel target antigen in patients with Behçet's disease (BD) with uveitis, where an autoimmune response to retinal antigens is considered to be involved in the pathogenesis of the uveitis in those patients (82,83). What role SBP1 plays in these diseases has not yet been investigated.

H. The transcriptional regulation of SBP1

A greater understanding of the biological roles of SBP1 could be gained by examining how its expression is regulated. A subtractive hybridization approach was used to identify transcripts that were more abundant in the relatively fast-growing PC-3 human prostate cancer cells compared to slow-growing LNCaP cells (29). The low levels of *SBP1* mRNA in LNCaP cells was shown to be due to the downregulation of *SBP1* transcription as treatment of androgen-sensitive LNCaP

cells with dihydrotestosterone (DHT, the active form of androgen) reduced the levels of *SBP1* mRNA in a reversible, concentration-dependent manner (29). A more complicated picture was revealed by the analysis of the effect of androgen on normal ovarian epithelial cells obtained from the scraping of the ovary surface of patients with benign disease, an immortalized cell line, and ovarian cancer cell lines (50). Treatment of the primary and immortalized cells with DHT reduced the levels of *SBP1* mRNA, while SBP1 levels were increased in four tumor-derived cell lines by DHT treatment. The mechanism accounting for the differential response of these cell lines to DHT has not been resolved.

In addition to androgens, *SBP1* expression is also downregulated by estrogen treatment (17- β estradiol) in estrogen receptor (ER)-positive breast cancer cells, but not in ER-negative cells (52). The suppression of SBP1 expression by transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) was also observed using a rhesus monkey renal allograft model to identify molecules involved in the pathogenesis of chronic allograft nephropathy (CAN) (84). SBP1 was absent or markedly reduced in vascular smooth muscle cells in monkey kidney allografts with CAN. Testing growth factors previously associated with graft rejection, including IFN γ , TNF α , and PDGF, only TGF- β blocked the expression of SBP1 in the normal human vascular smooth muscle cell line, CRL-1999 (84). It is unlikely that the effects of androgens or estrogens on *SBP1* promoter as there does not appear to be a consensus binding sequence for the receptor/transcription factor.

The mouse *Sbp1* gene has been identified as a direct target gene of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) transcription factor in primary keratinocyte cell cultures (85). Scortegagna et al. examined HIF-1 α gain of function during multistage murine skin chemical carcinogenesis in K14-HIF-1 α ^{Pro402A564G} transgenic mice. They concluded that HIF-1 α was functioning as a tumor

suppressor, most likely by upregulating target genes, including *Sbp1*. Four hypoxia response elements were located within 1400 bp of the transcription start site of the human promoter region of *SBP1*, although the demonstration that these were bona fide response elements was not provided (85). HIF-1 α is a central mediator of the cellular response to environmental stresses, such as hypoxia (86). It is over-expressed in many types of human cancer (87-89), and its over-expression is associated with treatment failure and increased mortality in some cancers including cancers of the cervix (90,91), breast (92,93), ovary (94), uterus (95), stomach (96), and brain (97). It is also associated with decreased mortality in other cancers, including those of the head and neck (98) and non-small-cell lung cancer (99). The consequences of the changes in HIF-1 α levels are cancertype specific, and the accompanying molecular alterations, such as SBP1 reduction/loss, can affect the balance between pro- and anti-apoptotic factors. A study by Huang et al. demonstrated that the decreased expression of SBP1 could lead to higher glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPX1) activity and reduced HIF-1 α expression in hepatocellular carcinoma, indicating that SBP1 might exert its tumor suppressive function as a regulator of the tumor redox microenvironment (47).

In addition to the putative HIF-1 α response elements in the *SBP1* promoter, two potential antioxidant response elements (ARE) with strong homology to the consensus ARE recognition motif are present in the promoter region of *SBP1* (100), although the functionality of these sequences as AREs has yet to be established. The presence of functional AREs in the promoter region of *SBP1* may account for the repression of transcription observed when the anti-oxidant selenoprotein GPX1 is ectopically expressed in colon carcinoma cell lines (100), as well as the reciprocal relationship observed in cells and tissues (42).

In some cases, epigenetic silencing by promoter methylation may be a mechanism by which the expression of *SBP1* is reduced in human colon cancers. Comparing DNA obtained from

colon cancer samples to DNA obtained from matched normal tissue indicated significantly more methylation in the promoter region of samples from the cancers (101). Hypermethylation of the SBP1 promoter region was demonstrated in the human colon cell lines SW480, Caco-2, HT-29, and HCT1161 in which the extent of promoter methylation was associated with the degree of SBP1 protein levels. Moreover, treatment of these cells with 5-aza-deoxycytidine, a demethylation agent, decreased promoter methylation, and resulted in increased promoter activity and protein levels (101). In contrast, treatment of three different human colon cancer cell lines, LOVO, SNU-C4, and A549, with 5-aza-deoxycytidine did not result in increased SBP1 expression, nor was there any evidence of genetic loss at the SBP1 locus (60). There was also a lack of evidence for either hypermethylation or genetic deletion, accounting for the low levels of SBP1 observed in lung cancers (102). Furthermore, similar findings were seen in prostate cancer cell lines including, LNCaP, PC-3, and DU145, where the loss or downregulation of SBP1 does not appear to be due to any major deletion or rearrangement of the gene (29). While there is a consistent loss of SBP1 in many cancer types, there may be a multitude of ways in which tumor cells can achieve a reduction in SBP1 expression.

I. Prostate cancer metabolism

Prostate cancer is the most common cancer, and the second leading cause of death in men (103). However, a significant number of men undergo unnecessary prostatectomies or fail to receive sufficiently intensive treatment because the degree of tumor aggressiveness was unknown at the time of diagnosis. The prostate is a highly specialized organ, with one function being the accumulation and secretion of large amounts of citrate as a component of semen, thus supporting sperm health. Zinc accumulation in the prostate inhibits the mitochondrial aconitase enzyme that converts citrate to isocitrate that enters into the Krebs cycle to generate ATP by

oxidative phosphorylation (104). The organ relies on energy-inefficient aerobic glycolysis for its energy requirements (105,106). Alteration in this process is a hallmark of prostate cancer, in which, zinc levels decline dramatically, relieving the inhibition of aconitase. As a result, citrate re-enters the pathways that provide both energy (Krebs cycle/aerobic oxidation) and cellular building blocks (lipogenesis) to support cancer growth (105,107). In contrast, most solid tumors shift from oxidative phosphorylation, the primary energy source in normal tissues, to a heavy reliance on glycolysis. This phenomenon was first recognized by Otto Warburg in the 1920s and has been a focus of cancer biologists ever since. However, the unique metabolic changes typical of prostate carcinogenesis necessitate a different perspective in investigating the disease etiology for this organ.

As mentioned earlier, observations from cells derived from different tissue types support a tumor suppressor function for SBP1 (108). Here, the ability of SBP1 to impact properties of transformation and energy metabolism was investigated to understand the impact of its reduction in prostate cancer.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. Cells and culturing conditions

The LAPC-4 cell line was generously provided by Dr. L. Nonn laboratory (University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL). The PC-3 and LAPC-4 human prostate carcinoma cell lines were maintained in RPMI-1640 media (Gibco, #11875), whereas LNCaP human prostate carcinoma cell line was maintained in RPMI-1640 media (ATCC, #30-2001). All media were supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gemini Bio), 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100ug/mL streptomycin, and cells were maintained at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Cell lines were authenticated by Genetica DNA Laboratories (Burlington, NC). The inducible and constitutively-active SBP1 expression constructs were introduced to PC-3 TET-ON and PC-3 cells, respectively, via transfection using Continuum[™] Transfection Reagent (Gemini Bio, #400-700). The same transfection reagent was also used for the transfection of plasmids into LNCaP cells. Infected and transfected cells were selected in lug/mL puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich) and 500ug/mL G418 (Sigma-Aldrich), respectively. Transfected cells were expanded and screened for SBP1 expression by western blotting and qRT-PCR using SBP1 forward primer (5'-CCAAAGCTGCACAAGGTCAT-3'), SBP1 reverse primer (5'- CATCCAGCAGCACAAAACCC-3'), RPLP0 forward primer (5'-CCTCGTGGAAGTGACATCGT-3'), **RPLP0** (5'and primer reverse CTGTCTTCCCTGGGCATCAC-3'). Expression of SBP1 was induced following incubation with 0.5ug/mL doxycycline or 0.05ug/mL anhydrochlortetracycline-HCl (Cayman Chemical, #19941) for 48-72 hours.

B. Real-time quantitative PCR

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen, #74134) and reverse transcribed with High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (ThermoFisher, # 4368814), according to the manufacturer's instructions. RT-qPCR was performed with a QuantStudio 6 Flex Real-Time PCR System (ThermoFisher), using Fast SYBRTM Green Master Mix (ThermoFisher, #4385612). Fold changes were calculated by the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, using RPLP0 as the control. In addition to SBP1 primers reported above, other primers used in RT-qPCR experiments include, KLK3 forward primer (5'-CGAGAAGCATTCCCAACCCT-3'), KLK3 reverse primer (5'-ACCCAGCAAGATCACGCTTT-3'), CYP3A4 forward primer (5'-GTGGGGCCTTTGTCAGAACT-3'), CYP3A4 primer (5'and reverse TGGGCAAAGTCACAGTGGAT-3').

C. Plasmid construction

The doxycycline-inducible SBP1 expression construct, pRetroX-Tight-Pur-SBP1, was previously generated (61). To investigate the impact of nuclear versus cytoplasmic SBP1 localization, derivative expression constructs with SBP1 modified by the addition of the SV40 Large Т Antigen nuclear localization sequence (NLS, PKKKRKV. 5'-CCAAAAAAGAAGAAGAAAGGTA-3') or the HIV Rev Protein nuclear export sequence (NES, LPPLERLTL. 5'-TTGCCACCATTGGAGCGATTGACATTG-3') were created. These sequences were introduced into the 5' end of SBP1 open reading frame using the following Not1restriction-site-containing forward primers, (5'-GGCAGCAGCGGCCGCGCAGCAGCCACCATGCCAAAAAAGAAGAAGAAAGGTAATGG CTACGAAATGTGGG -3') (5'and

GGCAGCAGCGGCGCGCGCAGCAGCAGCCACCATGTTGCCACCATTGGAGCGATTGACATT GATGGCTACGAAATGTGGG-3') for SBP1-NLS and SBP1-NES, respectively. (109-111). The EcoR1-restriction-site-containing reverse primer (5'-TGCTGCGAATTCTGCTGCTCAAATCCAGATGTCAGAGC -3') was used for the generation of both derivative constructs. Successful cloning was verified by Sanger sequencing. The SBP1 shRNA and constitutively-active pCMV6-AC SBP1 expression constructs were purchased from OriGene Technologies, Inc. (#TG309566, #SC322261, respectively). The pCMV6-AC SBP1 plasmid (#SC322261, OriGene Technologies, Inc.) was used as a template for site-directed mutagenesis at cys57 of SBP1 using the Q5® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (NEB, #E0554S), a forward primer (5'-TCCCCAGTATgGCCAGGTCAT-3'), and a reverse primer (5'-GACTTGGGGTCAACATCC-3'). The generated mutation of cys57 to gly57 (C57G) was verified by Sanger sequencing.

D. Immunofluorescence

Indicated cell lines were plated onto sterile Fisherbrand microscope cover glass slips (Fisher Scientific) placed in Corning Costar Flat Bottom 6-well Cell Culture Plates (Corning Inc.). The cells were allowed to grow to 80% confluence, washed three times with PBS, and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min. After fixation, the coverslips were transferred to a clean 6-well plate, and cells were again washed with PBS. Cells were then incubated with 0.1% saponin-TBST for 10 minutes at 37°C, after which they were washed three times in 0.1% saponin-TBST. Cells were then blocked for 30 minutes using a background sniper (BIOCARE Medical, Pacheco, CA). Following the blocking step, the cells were washed and incubated with SBP1 primary antibody (MBL, # M061-3) overnight at 1:150 diluted in Diamond Antibody Diluent (Cell Marque, Rocklin CA) in a humid chamber to prevent drying. Cells were then washed three times in 0.1% saponin-

TBST. Secondary antibody (Alexafluor-647) was then incubated at 1:200 in Diamond Antibody Diluent for one hour at room temperature in a dark, humid chamber. Cells were then washed three times in 0.1% saponin-TBST, after which they were washed three times in PBS. Cells were mounted using ProLong Gold Antifade reagent with DAPI (Invitrogen). Images were obtained using an LSM510UV confocal microscope (Zeiss).

E. Western blotting

Cells were harvested and lysed in 1x Cell Lysis Buffer (Cell Signaling Technology) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Lysates were mixed with NuPAGE LDS Sample Buffer (Life Technologies) and 10x Reducing Agent (Life Technologies) and boiled at 95°C for 10 minutes, after which lysates were loaded to 4–12% gradient Bis-Tris denaturing polyacrylamide gels (Life Technologies). After electrophoresis, proteins were transferred to an Immobilon-FL membrane (EMD Millipore) via electro-blotting. Membranes were incubated with antibodies overnight at 4°C. Antibodies against the following proteins were used: SBP1 at 1:2000 (MBL International), pAMPK^{Thr172} at 1:1000, AMPK α at 1:1000, pACC^{S79} at 1:1000, ACC at 1:1000, GAPDH at 1:10,000 (Cell Signaling Technology), and β -actin at 1:10,000 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA). An Odyssey[®] CLx imaging system (LI-COR Biosciences) was used to image and quantify protein bands.

F. Metabolic assays

Oxidative phosphorylation was examined by quantifying the oxygen consumption rate (OCR) using a Seahorse XF analyzer and Seahorse XF Cell Mito Stress Test Kits (Agilent Technologies, Inc.) according to the manufacturer protocol. In summary, mitochondrial respiration was determined in PC-3 cells using a Seahorse XF analyzer that measures parameters of

mitochondrial function by directly measuring the oxygen consumption rate (OCR) following the use of specific electron transport chain inhibitors, including oligomycin, Carbonyl cyanide 4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone (FCCP), and rotenone/antimycin A. These inhibitors are injected sequentially, starting with oligomycin, which is an ATP synthase (Complex V) inhibitor and is injected first after acquiring basal measurements. The injection of oligomycin decreases the electron flow through the electron transport chain (ETC), causing a decrease in OCR, which is a reflection of mitochondrial ATP production (112). The second injection following oligomycin is FCCP, which is a potent uncoupler of OXPHOS. FCCP impacts ATP synthesis by disrupting the proton gradient across the mitochondrial membrane, enabling the electron flow to proceed uninhibited, and allowing the OCR to reach its maximal possible limit (Complex IV). This allows calculating spare respiratory capacity (SRC), which is the difference between maximal and basal respiration measurements. SRC reflects the cellular capacity to respond to cellular stresses or increased energy demands (112). The last injection is a combination of rotenone and antimycin A, which inhibits Complex I and III, respectively. This mixture turns off mitochondrial respiration, allowing to measure the non-mitochondrial respiration occurring by extra-mitochondrial cellular processes (112).

G. Cell proliferation and growth in semi-solid media

Proliferation was assayed by quantitation of cellular DNA using the FluoReporter[®] Blue Fluorometric dsDNA Quantitation Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Inc., #F-2962). Cells were plated at equal densities (5000 cells/well) on black, clear-bottom 96 well plates (Corning Inc.) and incubated at 37°C for three days, after which relative cell numbers were determined using the manufacturer protocol. Growth in semi-solid media was assayed by plating cells in triplicates in

0.6% agarose in media, according to a published protocol (113). Cells were imaged using an EVOS FL Imaging System (Invitrogen), and colonies were enumerated on day 21.

H. Wound healing assay

The wound-healing assay was used to evaluate cell migration. Cells were plated at equal densities on 6-well plates and incubated at 37°C until maximal confluency. Scratch wounds were generated by dragging a pipette tip through the cell monolayer in each well. The media was immediately replaced by 2mL of fresh media containing aphidicolin (Cayman Chemical, #14007) to inhibit cell proliferation. Cells were then imaged using an EVOS FL Imaging system and imaged at 24-hour intervals for up to three days. Changes in scratch widths (percentages of gap closure) were quantified by obtaining width measurements at the top, middle, and bottom of the scratches. Measurements were then averaged and used as a surrogate of cell migration.

I. Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism software was used to perform statistical analysis. Two-tailed t-test statistical analyses were performed for all experiments, and data from at least three independent experiments are reported as means \pm SEM. *p* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

III. RESULTS

A. SBP1 and energy metabolism

Given previous data indicating that ectopic expression of SBP1 can alter the expression of genes whose protein products are involved in energy metabolism, the effect of SBP1 overexpression on mitochondrial respiration of prostate cancer cells was investigated. A construct with SBP1 expression driven from a doxycycline-inducible promoter was introduced into the PC-3 human prostate cancer-derived cell line, selected as recipient cells as they express very low SBP1 levels. Transfected PC-3 cells exhibited robust induction of SBP1 following incubation with doxycycline (for three days), compared to the same cells exposed to only vehicle (Figure 1A). Ectopic SBP1 expression did not alter the proliferation of these cells relative to control cells (Figure 1B), similar to what was previously reported for SBP1-overexpressing HCT116 colon cancer-derived cells (61).



Figure 1. SBP1 over-expression does not affect the proliferation of PC-3 cells. A) SBP1 overexpression was successfully induced by doxycycline (DOX) in PC-3 cells. B) After three days of DOX-mediated induction of SBP1, fluorescence was quantified as an end-point for proliferation with a fluorometric dsDNA quantification assay. Data are represented in averages \pm SEMs. *ns*, nonsignificant. n=3.

The effect of elevated SBP1 expression on mitochondrial respiration was determined in PC-3 cells. Expression of SBP1 in PC-3 cells significantly reduced mitochondrial ATP production (\downarrow 38%), maximal respiration (\downarrow 41%), and spare respiratory capacity (\downarrow 53%), therefore restricting the ability of cancer cells to respond to increased energy demand or to meet their metabolic needs under stress (Figure 2). SBP1 expression also reduced basal oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS, \downarrow 39%) in a manner that is mimicking the healthy metabolism of normal prostate cells (Figure 2A), in which OXPHOS is inhibited, therefore providing evidence that SBP1 may be functioning as a metabolic tumor suppressor in prostate cancer cells.



Figure 2. Over-expression of SBP1 alters energy metabolism in PC-3 cells. The basal OXPHOS (A), mitochondrial ATP production (B), maximal respiration (C), and spare respiratory capacity (D) are quantified in control and SBP1-overexpressing PC-3 cells incubated with vehicle or DOX 0.5ug/mL for 48hours. Data are normalized for DOX effect, and represented in averages \pm SEMs. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, n=3.
It was previously shown that SBP1 resides in both the nucleus and the cytoplasm in prostate epithelial cells, and the nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio was inversely associated with tumor grade (61). To investigate the impact of nuclear versus cytoplasmic SBP1 localization, derivative expression constructs with SBP1 modified by the addition of either the SV40 Large T Antigen nuclear localization sequence or the HIV Rev Protein nuclear export sequence were transfected into PC-3 cells, and targeting was visualized by immunofluorescence. These constructs successfully express and target SBP1 to the intended subcellular compartments (Figure 3A-B). When ectopically expressed in PC-3 cells, both targeted versions of SBP1 suppressed basal OXPHOS (SBP1-NLS:↓54%, SBP1-NES: ↓49%), mitochondrial ATP production (SBP1-NLS:↓58%, SBP1-NES: ↓52%), maximal respiration (SBP1-NLS:↓64%, SBP1-NES: ↓53%), and spare respiratory capacity (SBP1-NLS:↓71%, SBP1-NES: ↓57%) to a degree similar to the native SBP1 (Figure 3B-C). The similar degree of suppression of mitochondrial respiration by native and targeted SBP1 indicates that the SBP1-mediated reduction in OCR occurs independently of its subcellular localization.



Figure 3. Targeting SBP1 to the nucleus or the cytoplasm. A) Immunofluorescence showing successful induction and targeting of SBP1 in the engineered PC-3 cells (magnification shown is 63x). SBP1-NLS is exclusively targeted to the nucleus, whereas SBP1-NES is exclusively excluded from the nucleus. B) Western blot showing successful induction of SBP1 in the engineered PC-3 cells. C-D) The basal OXPHOS, maximal respiration, spare respiratory capacity, and mitochondrial ATP production are quantified in control and PC-3 cells expressing engineered versions of SBP1 that either targeted to (C), or excluded from (D) the nucleus. Cells were incubated with vehicle or DOX at a concentration of 0.5ug/mL for 48hours. Data are represented in averages \pm SEMs. ** p < 0.01. n=3.

The activation of two key regulators of glucose homeostasis by SBP1 was examined (Figure 4). AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated by phosphorylation at Thr¹⁷² (114), and it stimulates glucose utilization and the uptake of fatty acids when ATP levels are low, favoring glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation over OXPHOS. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) is inhibited by phosphorylation at Ser⁷⁹ (115), and when active, it carboxylates acetyl-CoA to generate malonyl-CoA, the rate-limiting step for the generation of fatty acids (lipogenesis) as an alternative energy source. Stable ectopic expression of SBP1 in PC-3 cells resulted in a two-fold elevation of the phosphorylated form of AMPK compared to control cells (Figure 4A). Additionally, SBP1 expression caused a 20% increase in ACC phosphorylation, but it did not reach statistical significance. Compared to control cells, PC-3 cells that have their ectopic SBP1 expression controlled by a doxycycline-inducible construct also exhibited an increased AMPK phosphorylation after incubation with anhydrochlortetracycline, a doxycycline analog, for 48 hours (Figure 4B). SBP1 expression was silenced using an shRNA construct in LNCaP cells, a human prostate cancer cell line that produces significantly more SBP1 than PC-3 cells. As seen in figure 4C, reducing SBP1 levels by a mean of 75% in these cells resulted in about 46% reduction of AMPK phosphorylation at Thr¹⁷², compared to cells transfected with a scrambled control shRNA construct. However, we did not observe a significant reduction in ACC phosphorylation in these cells.



Figure 4. SBP1 activates AMPK in PC-3 cells. A) Representative western blot showing the phosphorylation of AMPK and ACC by ectopic expression of SBP1 in PC-3 cells. B) Western blot showing the activation of AMPK by ectopic expression of SBP1 in PC-3 cells from a DOX-induced promotor. Anhydrochlortetracycline, a DOX analog, was added to the media at 0.1ug/mL for 48 hours. The lanes represent independent three biological replicates. C) Representative western blot showing the reduction of pAMPK in LNCaP cells, in which SBP1 expression was silenced using an shRNA construct. Densitometric quantifications are shown below corresponding figures. *ns*, non-significant, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. Data are represented in averages ± SEMs.

B. The effects of SBP1 and selenium binding on cellular transformation

The frequent loss of SBP1 in prostate cancer could be a "bystander" effect during the process of carcinogenesis or may indicate a tumor suppressor function for SBP1. To address this, SBP1 was constitutively over-expressed in PC-3 cells, and transfectants. Both individual clones and a pool of transfectants, were examined for their ability to grow in semi-solid media, as anchorage-independent growth is a common feature of transformation. Ectopic expression of SBP1 significantly attenuated the ability of PC-3 cells to grow in semi-solid media by 47-90% compared to control vector-only transfected cells (Fig 5A-C), therefore indicating that SBP1 can suppress the transformation properties, and supporting a tumor suppressor function for SBP1 in prostate cancer cells.

In addition to growth in semi-solid media, the ability of tumor cells to migrate on a tissue culture plastic dish is a frequent surrogate for advanced or aggressive cancer cells. The migratory ability of SBP1-overexpressing cells was assessed using a wound healing assay (scratch assay). Cell monolayers were scraped with a pipette tip, and the migration of cells into the scratch was measured over time in the presence of the anti-proliferative agent, aphidicolin. Ectopic expression of SBP1 attenuated the migration of PC-3 cells into the scratched area by 30% after two days, relative to control vector-only transfected cells (Figure 6), therefore indicating that SBP1 can attenuate the migration of prostate cancer PC-3 cells *in vitro*.

What role the binding of selenium to SBP1 might provide to its function remains unknown. To determine whether selenium is essential for SBP1 functions revealed above, a derivative SBP1 construct was generated by site-directed mutagenesis to alter the cysteine 57 to glycine (C57G), the likely selenium-binding amino acid (33), and was transfected in PC-3 cells. The mutant SBP1 was ectopically expressed in PC-3 cells, and the cells were assayed for their ability to grow in semi-solid media (soft agar). Mutated C57G-SBP1 and wild-type SBP1 expression reduced the growth of pool of transfected PC-3 cells in soft agar by 41% and 47%, respectively (Figure 5). Similarly, ectopic expression of mutant C57G-SBP1 attenuated the migration of PC-3 cells into the scratched area by 32% after two days, relative to control vector-only transfected cells, indicating that the likely selenium binding at cys57 does not affect the observed SBP1-induced attenuation of PC-3 cell migration and anchorage-independent growth *in vitro* (Figure 7).

The C57G-SBP1 was also able to enhance the activation of AMPK (Figure 8) to a similar extent as the wild type protein seen in figure 4, therefore indicating that the likely selenium binding at cys57 does not affect the observed SBP1-induced AMPK activation in prostate cancer PC-3 cells.



Figure 5. Ectopic expression of SBP1 attenuates anchorage-independent growth of PC-3 cells. A) A western blot showing high SBP1 levels in clones and pool of transfected PC-3 cells, compared to control vector-only transfected cells. B) Representative images of cell culture plates of transfected and control cells (refer to (C) for quantification of colonies). C) Quantification of average number of colonies formed per 5000 plated cells shown in B. D) Representative images of cell culture plates of transfected and control cells (refer to (E) for quantification of colonies). E) Quantification of average number of colonies formed per 5000 plated cells (refer to (E) for quantification of colonies). E) Quantification of average number of colonies formed per 5000 plated cells shown in D. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01. Data are represented in averages ± SEMs.







PC-3 CTRL

Figure 6. Ectopic expression of SBP1 attenuates the migration of PC-3 cells in a scratch assay. A) Representative images captured at day0 and day2 for control and SBP1expressing PC-3 cells migrating into the scratched area. B) Quantification of data obtained from three independent experiments showing that SBP1 attenuates migration. Images and data were obtained using an EVOS FL Auto Imaging System (ThermoFisher). Data are represented in averages \pm SEMs. **** p < 0.0001, n=3.

B)



Figure 7. Ectopic expression of C57G-SBP1 attenuates the migration of PC-3 cells in a scratch assay. A) Representative images captured at day0 and day2 for control and C57G-SBP1-expressing PC-3 cells migrating into the scratched area. B) Quantification of data obtained from three independent experiments showing that SBP1 attenuates migration. Images and data were obtained using an EVOS FL Auto Imaging System (ThermoFisher). Data are represented in averages \pm SEMs. **** p < 0.0001, n=3.



Figure 8. C57G-SBP1 activates AMPK PC-3 cells. A) Representative western blot showing the phosphorylation of AMPK and ACC by ectopic expression of C57G-SBP1 in PC-3 cells. B) Quantification of densitometries obtained from three independent experiments is shown. *ns*, non-significant, *p < 0.05. Data are represented in averages \pm SEMs. n=3

C. The metabolic and biological function of the products of SBP1 enzyme activity

Since SBP1 can activate AMPK and attenuate cellular migration and growth in semi-solid media, we assessed whether AMPK activation contributes to these phenotypic changes associated with aggressive prostate cancer. Metformin has been shown to activate AMPK (116), and therefore AMPK activation was achieved by incubating PC-3 cells with 1mM metformin at the beginning of the scratch assay. Metformin-induced AMPK activation was verified by western blotting (Figure 9C). PC-3 cells exposed to metformin exhibited significantly attenuated migration into the scratched area by 32% after three days, relative to cells treated with vehicle only (Figure 9A-B), hence indicating that AMPK activation by metformin can inhibit the migration of prostate cancer PC-3 cells *in vitro*. Furthermore, SBP1-expressing PC-3 cells exhibited attenuated migration by 76% after incubation with metformin for three days, relative to cells treated with vehicle only (Figure 9A-B), hence indicating that AMPK activation by metformin by metformin potentiates the SBP1-induced attenuation of migration of prostate cancer PC-3 cells *in vitro*.



Figure 9. Pharmacological activation of AMPK attenuates migration of PC-3 cells. A) Representative images of PC-3 cells incubated with aphidicolin and metformin (Met, 1mM) showing the attenuation of migration in cells treated with Met, compared to control vehicle-only (veh) treated cells. B) Quantification of the data obtained from three independent experiments with the bars representing the width of the scratch. C) Western blot showing successful induction, and inhibition of AMPK by metformin 1mM, and dorsomorphin 10uM (Dorso), respectively. Data are represented in averages \pm SEMs. ** *p* < 0.001; **** *p* < 0.0001, n=3.

SBP1 is a methanethiol oxidase (MTO), converting methanethiol to H₂O₂ and H₂S (36). Both reaction products are essential signaling molecules, with H₂S also being able to suppress mitochondrial respiratory complex IV at high concentrations (117-119). As seen in Figure 10, exposure of non-transfected PC-3 cells to either H₂O₂ or NaHS (H₂S donor) results in the phosphorylation of both ACC and AMPK, therefore emphasizing the role SBP1 may play by functioning as an MTO in inducing the phosphorylation of AMPK and ACC.





Figure 10. NaHS and H₂O₂ phosphorylate AMPK and ACC. A) Representative western blots showing that exposure of PC-3 cells to NaHS (1mg/mL for 15 minutes) or B) H₂O₂ (250uM for 1h) induced the phosphorylation of ACC and AMPK. Quantification of densitometries obtained from three independent experiments is shown next to the corresponding blot. Data are represented in average fold changes \pm SEMs. * *P* < 0.05, ** *p* < 0.01. n=3.

D. The transcriptional regulation of SBP1

The mechanisms accounting for SBP1 downregulation in prostate cancer remain unknown.

Hypermethylation of the SBP1 promoter region is present in colon cancers and colon cancer-

derived cell lines (101) but not in other cell lines (60). No evidence of hypermethylation or genetic

deletion of SBP1 was detected in lung and prostate cancers (29,102). To investigate how SBP1 is downregulated in prostate cancer, an *in silico* analysis was performed using the SABiosciences platform (SABiosciences Corporation, Frederick, MD) to identify putative transcription factor binding sites in the *SBP1* promoter region (Figure 10A). The analysis revealed several consensus sequences recognized for hepatic nuclear factor 4-alpha (HNF4 α), a transcription factor essential for liver development and differentiation (120), as well as a regulator of several enzymes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism (121,122). The OncomineTM Platform (Thermo Fisher, Ann Arbor, MI) for analysis and visualization was used to examine *HNF4\alpha* mRNA levels in prostate cancers (123). The analysis of 14 prostate cancer studies (124-137) indicated that *HNF4\alpha* was significantly elevated in prostate carcinoma compared to benign tissues (*p* = 0.03) — the analysis can be accessed through the website provided in the Appendix.

To test the ability of HNF4 α to regulate SBP1 expression, LNCaP cells, that express much higher SBP1 levels compared to PC-3 cells, were exposed to the HNF4 α inhibitor, BI-6015 (Cayman Chemical). HNF4 α inhibition by BI-6015 increased both SBP1 mRNA and protein levels in a dose-dependent manner, indicating that HNF4 α suppresses *SBP1* expression in these cells (Figure 11B-D). To validate successful HNF4 α inhibition by BI-6015, cells treated with BI-6015 exhibited a three-fold increase in *CYP3A4* mRNA expression, a known HNF4 α target (Figure 11E) (138).



Figure 11. HNF4 α suppresses SBP1 expression in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. A) An illustration showing the putative HNF4 α transcription factor binding sites within the *SBP1* promoter. B-C) Representative western blot (B) and its densitometric analysis (C) showing a dose-dependent increase in SBP1 protein levels upon HNF4 α inhibition by BI-6015, D) RT-qPCR demonstrating a significant dose-dependent increase in relative *SBP1* mRNA expression upon HNF4 α inhibition by BI-6015 in LNCaP cells. E) RT-qPCR demonstrating an increase in relative *CYP3A4* mRNA expression upon HNF4 α inhibition by BI-6015 in LNCaP cells. E) RT-qPCR demonstrating an increase in relative *CYP3A4* mRNA expression upon HNF4 α inhibition by BI-6015 in LNCaP cells. Data are represented in averages ± SEMs. * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001, n=4.

IV. DISCUSSION

SBP1 loss has been implicated in the progression of cancers of many different tissue types (108). The evidence supporting this conclusion stems from observations of lower levels of SBP1 in cancers compared to benign tissues, or the association of lower SBP1 levels with poor clinical outcome. These data include tissue microarray analyses of prostate cancer samples that indicated that low SBP1 levels in the tumor tissues were associated with an increased risk of prostate cancer recurrence following prostatectomy (61). There are reports of cell culture or xenograft studies where over-expressing SBP1 inhibited phenotypes related to cellular transformation or tumorigenicity (64,65,101), but none of these studies specifically used prostate-derived cancer cells. The data presented here show that over-expressing SBP1 in human PC-3 prostate carcinoma cells attenuated their anchorage-independent growth and migration *in vitro*, two conventional assays of transformation. These data support the evidence that SBP1 is functioning as a tumor suppressor in prostate cancer, a disease with the magnitude of its metabolic landscape is yet to be defined.

The prostate is a highly specialized organ, with one function being the accumulation and secretion of large amounts of citrate as a component of semen, thus supporting sperm health. Zinc accumulation in the healthy prostate inhibits the mitochondrial aconitase enzyme that converts citrate to isocitrate, which then enters into the Krebs cycle to generate ATP by OXPHOS (104). Prostate tissue relies on energy-inefficient aerobic glycolysis for its energy requirements, and the alteration in this process is a hallmark of prostate cancer, where zinc levels decline dramatically, relieving the inhibition of aconitase (105,106). As a result, citrate re-enters pathways that provide both energy (Krebs cycle/aerobic oxidation) and cellular building blocks (lipogenesis) to support

cancer cell growth (105,107). In contrast to what occurs during prostate cancer, most solid tumors shift from OXPHOS, the primary energy source in normal tissues, to a heavy reliance on glycolysis. This phenomenon was first recognized by Otto Warburg in the 1920s and has been a focus of cancer biologists ever since. However, the unique metabolic changes typical of prostate carcinogenesis necessitate a different perspective in understanding the etiology for this disease. The molecular events involved in this transition are not well understood, but are potential therapeutic targets, particularly in aggressive disease that is no longer responsive to other treatments. Here, we have identified the loss of SBP1 as a possible contributor to this metabolic transformation. In this study, over-expressing SBP1 inhibited OXPHOS in prostate cancer cells, therefore mimicking the metabolic phenotype of the healthy prostate, in which OXPHOS is also inhibited. It also provides evidence that SBP1 may exert a metabolic tumor suppressor function in the healthy prostate, and its loss or downregulation may facilitate the metabolic transformation observed in prostate cancer, a process that is crucial for cell survival and proliferation. It is particularly striking to see that SBP1 is still capable of suppressing OXPHOS regardless of its subcellular localization, whether nuclear or cytoplasmic, therefore denoting a potentially shared mechanism that suppresses mitochondrial respiration. Perhaps if this suppression is mediated via H_2S generated by SBP1 MTO enzymatic activity, it is possible that H_2S generated by the nuclear SBP1 is capable of crossing nuclear membrane and affecting the mitochondria. In fact, the high concentration of H₂S was shown to suppress mitochondrial respiratory complex IV (117-119).

Another possible explanation may involve AMPK, which is an intracellular energy sensor and has a crucial role in maintaining energy homeostasis. AMPK is a heterotrimer consisting of a catalytic α subunit and two non-catalytic β and γ subunits that exist in several isoforms (139-143). The α 2 subunit isoform has been shown to be preferentially found in the nucleus (144). Additionally, both α and β subunits were found to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (145). It is, therefore, likely that the nuclear SBP1 may interact and activate AMPK in the nucleus. However, this is yet to be investigated. Uncovering the molecular and metabolic switches that regulate the energy metabolism in healthy and cancerous prostate cells may be crucial in advancing our understanding of this metabolic shift and discovering new therapeutics for prostate cancer patients.

A high AMP/ATP ratio will activate AMPK to restore intracellular energy balance. Several studies have found a beneficial effect of metformin, an AMPK activator, in reducing prostate cancer incidence and improving overall survival (146-151). Metformin has also been shown to inhibit the proliferation of prostate cancer cells (152-155). In this study, we demonstrate that SBP1 is capable of activating AMPK, and the metformin-induced AMPK activation reduced the migration of prostate cancer cells, therefore providing additional evidence for the potential mechanism(s) by which SBP1 may be functioning as a tumor suppressor in prostate cancer cells. This is further supported by the evidence that both H_2O_2 and H_2S , products of SBP1 functioning as an MTO (36), were also capable of activating AMPK. As mentioned earlier, high concentration of H₂S can suppress mitochondrial respiratory complex IV (117-119), hence inhibiting OXPHOS, although it has not been particularly tested in this study. The functional importance of H_2S in the pathobiology of the prostate cancer cells has been recognized (156,157), and several studies have shown that impaired sulfide metabolism is involved in patients with prostate cancer (158-160). Studies have also shown that H₂S and/or sulfide-containing compounds inhibit the survival of prostate cancer cells in vitro and in vivo (161,162). H₂S can also repress androgen receptor (AR) transactivation, which is post-translationally modified by H_2S through S-sulfhydration (163).

Prostate cancer is a disease that is mainly driven by AR signaling, which involves a complex interplay of a network of signaling molecules (164,165). AR was found to regulate many genes involved in the metabolism of prostate cancer cells (166-170). Additionally, AR was shown to suppress *SBP1* expression in LNCaP cells (29), and we also observed a dihydrotestosterone-induced suppression of *SBP1* in LAPC-4 cells (Figure 12), therefore suggesting a potential AR-mediated mechanism of the suppression of SBP1 levels seen in prostate cancer (61).





Additionally, we identified HNF4 α as a novel negative transcriptional regulator of *SBP1* expression, and the elevated expression of *HNF4\alpha* in prostate cancer compared to benign tissues

using the OncomineTM platform may identify HNF4 α as an oncogene in this disease. HNF4 α is a transcription factor essential for liver development and differentiation (120), as well as a regulator of several enzymes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism (121,122). However, its role in prostate cancer development and progression is yet to be established. Here, we provide evidence that elevated HNF4 α expression may underlie the observed SBP1 loss seen in prostate cancer. Interestingly, our preliminary data in LAPC-4 and LNCaP cells show an increase in *HNF4\alpha* relative mRNA expression after treatment with DHT following a period of serum starvation (data not shown), therefore, indicating a potential cross-talk between HNF4 α and AR signaling pathways, which remains to be further studied. AMPK has been also shown to repress the transcriptional activity of HNF4 α by directly phosphorylating it on serine 304 (171), therefore adding additional dimension to the regulation of HNF4 α , and hence SBP1. Furthermore, the inhibition of AMPK by exposing PC-3 cells to dorsomorphin caused a significant increase in both SBP1 mRNA and protein levels (data not shown), which may indicate a regulatory feedback loop between AMPK and SBP1.

The only published study that implicates HNF4 in prostate cancer reports that the PXR-HNF4 (69789A>G) SNP is associated with the risk of higher PSA levels in prostate cancer patients (172). A different study reported that the same SNP (rs7643645) modifies a binding site for HNF4 located within the Pregnane X receptor (*PXR*) gene promoter, hence resulting in a lower *PXR* and *CYP3A4* mRNA levels together, with a decrease in CYP3A4 basal activity (138). CYP3A4 is cytochrome P450 enzyme involved in testosterone catabolism (173-175), and the lower CYP3A4 activity seen in patients with this SNP may result in higher circulating testosterone levels, which may increase the risk of prostate cancer development and progression.

Low levels of dietary selenium have been associated with prostate cancer risk in several studies (176), and reduced protein stability may be one of several possible mechanisms by which reduced levels of SBP1 contribute to prostate cancer risk. Although the nature of the selenium residue in SBP1 is yet to be determined, the binding of selenium to SBP1 is sufficiently stable to remain bound through its isolation by gel filtration, ion-exchange chromatography, and SDS-PAGE (27). It was predicted that selenium binds SBP1 at its cys57 residue (33), and mutagenesis of that cysteine did not measurably alter its MTO activity (36). Similarly, in this study, mutation of the potential selenium binding site at cys57 did not change the ability of SBP1 to activate AMPK, or to attenuate cancer migration or anchorage-independent growth of prostate cancer cells. These results imply that selenium binding does not affect SBP1 function as a tumor suppressor. The impact of the binding of selenium to SBP1 may be to stabilize the protein, as a mutation at cys57 was found to reduce the protein's half-life in HCT116 colon cancer-derived cells (34). However, this is yet to be investigated in prostate cells.

V. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In conclusion, the broad goal of the research described in this thesis was the discovery of the metabolic and biological roles of SBP1 in prostate cancer. It was previously reported that SBP1 levels were significantly reduced in prostate cancer compared to benign tissue obtained from adjacent areas (53). Using an *in silico* analysis, it was determined that the promoter region of SBP1 contains putative binding sites for the HNF4 α transcription factor. The potential for HNF4 α to regulate SBP1 expression was supported by the evidence that HNF4 α inhibition resulted in a doseresponse increase in the levels of SBP1 mRNA and protein, therefore identifying HNF4 α as a novel negative regulator of SBP1 expression in prostate cancer cells. Additionally, the elevated expression of $HNF4\alpha$ in prostate cancer compared to benign tissues may identify HNF4 α as an oncogene in this disease. The consequences of altering the levels of SBP1 were investigated by ectopically expressing SBP1 in PC-3 prostate cancer cells. SBP1 over-expression in PC-3 cells attenuated their anchorage-independent growth and the migration in culture, both properties associated with transformation. One mechanism by which SBP1 impacts prostate cells is by altering cellular energy metabolism to become less reliant on OXPHOS, as evidenced by the reduction in oxygen consumption of cells when SBP1 is over-expressed. Evidence was generated that the reaction products of SBP1, H_2O_2 and H_2S , can activate AMPK, a major regulator of pathways of energy homeostasis. However, it remains to be determined whether the SBP1 reaction products activate AMPK directly or whether AMPK activation is a consequence of the reaction products suppressing mitochondrial OXPHOS and ATP production, which would subsequently activate AMPK. Uncovering the molecular events orchestrating the metabolic transformation

occurring in prostate cancer is essential to future advances in understanding prostate cancer and identifying potential novel therapeutic targets.

Based on the obtained data, a model is proposed for the role of SBP1 in prostate cancer etiology (Figure 13). It is hypothesized that SBP1 negatively regulates OXPHOS in the healthy prostate cells by the production of H_2O_2 and H_2S and consequential activation of AMPK. The reduction of SBP1 levels in prostate cancer can occur due to increased binding of HNF4 α , acting as a transcriptional inhibitor to the *SBP1* promoter. Consequently, there is a reduction in H_2O_2 and H_2S -mediated signaling, inhibition of AMPK, and stimulation of OXPHOS and building blocks of biomolecules needed for tumor growth and progression. Other effects of SBP1 loss in tumor cells remain to be discovered.



The studies presented in this thesis provide a foundation for future studies to extend these observations to human and mouse tissues. For example, a current gap of knowledge in prostate cancer treatment is the lack of tools that would help identify and differentiate patients with indolent

versus aggressive prostate cancers. A case-control study may be performed by obtaining prostate cancer tissues of different stages to assess the clinical utility of HNF4 α /SBP1/AMPK, whether independently or combined, to differentiate indolent and aggressive cancers. Furthermore, it would be crucial to compare the performance (non-inferiority or superiority) of these markers to PSA in predicting patients' clinical outcomes.

Additionally, the Hi-Myc male mice are known to develop murine prostate intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) within three months and a high frequency of invasive epithelial prostate lesions after six months (177,178). These mice can be utilized to investigate whether the inhibition of HNF4 α , using its specific inhibitor BI-6015, can slow the development or progression of prostate cancer lesions, which will help establish HNF4 α as an oncogene in this disease.

An *Sbp1* knockout mouse, C57BL/6N-Selenbp1^{tm1b(KOMP)Wtsi}, was generated by the US National Institutes of Health Knockout Mouse Production and Phenotyping Project by deleting critical coding regions. It has no overt phenotype but exhibits dramatically reduced MTO activity in erythrocytes, liver, kidney, muscle, and brain mirroring effects seen in individuals with *SBP1* mutations (36,66). Prostate tissues were not examined in these studies. Based on our results, it is anticipated that these *Sbp1*^{-/-} mice have altered energy metabolism in prostate tissue. Prostates obtained from *Sbp1*^{-/-} and wild-type control mice will be studied by subjecting them to metabolic analyses, including measuring OCR under basal and stress conditions. Additionally, submitting these prostates for quantitative proteomics analysis will help validate our observations, and identify the global and key metabolic changes occurring in these tissues due to *Sbp1* loss.

VI. CITED LITERATURE

- Clark, L. C., Combs, G. F., Jr., Turnbull, B. W., Slate, E. H., Chalker, D. K., Chow, J., Davis, L. S., Glover, R. A., Graham, G. F., Gross, E. G., Krongrad, A., Lesher, J. L., Jr., Park, H. K., Sanders, B. B., Jr., Smith, C. L., and Taylor, J. R. (1996) Effects of selenium supplementation for cancer prevention in patients with carcinoma of the skin. A randomized controlled trial. Nutritional Prevention of Cancer Study Group. *JAMA* 276, 1957-1963
- Clark, L. C., Dalkin, B., Krongrad, A., Combs, G. F., Jr., Turnbull, B. W., Slate, E. H., Witherington, R., Herlong, J. H., Janosko, E., Carpenter, D., Borosso, C., Falk, S., and Rounder, J. (1998) Decreased incidence of prostate cancer with selenium supplementation: results of a double-blind cancer prevention trial. *British journal of urology* 81, 730-734
- 3. Schrauzer, G. N., White, D. A., and Schneider, C. J. (1977) Cancer mortality correlation studies. III. Statistical association with dietary selenium intakes. *Bioinorg Chem* **7**, 23-34
- 4. Shamberger, R. J., and Frost, D. V. (1969) Possible protective effect of selenium against human cancer. *Can Med Assoc J* **100**, 682-682
- 5. Brinkman, M., Reulen, R. C., Kellen, E., Buntinx, F., and Zeegers, M. P. (2006) Are men with low selenium levels at increased risk of prostate cancer? *Eur J Cancer* **42**, 2463-2471
- 6. Fortmann, S. P., Burda, B. U., Senger, C. A., Lin, J. S., and Whitlock, E. P. (2013) Vitamin and mineral supplements in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease and cancer: An updated systematic evidence review for the u.s. preventive services task force. *Annals of Internal Medicine* **159**, 824-834
- Steinbrenner, H., Speckmann, B., and Sies, H. (2013) Toward understanding success and failures in the use of selenium for cancer prevention. *Antioxidants & redox signaling* 19, 181-191
- 8. Vinceti, M., Crespi, C. M., Malagoli, C., Del Giovane, C., and Krogh, V. (2013) Friend or foe? The current epidemiologic evidence on selenium and human cancer risk. *Journal of environmental science and health. Part C, Environmental carcinogenesis & ecotoxicology reviews* **31**, 305-341
- 9. Ip, C. (1998) Lessons from basic research in selenium and cancer prevention. *J Nutr* **128**, 1845-1854
- Klein, E. A. (2004) Selenium: epidemiology and basic science. *The Journal of urology* 171, S50-S53
- 11. Behne, D., and Kyriakopoulos, A. (2001) Mammalian selenium-containing proteins. *Annu Rev Nutr* **21**, 453-473

- 12. Davis, C. D., and Uthus, E. O. (2003) Dietary folate and selenium affect dimethylhydrazine-induced aberrant crypt formation, global DNA methylation and one-carbon metabolism in rats. *J Nutr* **133**, 2907-2914
- 13. Ip, C., Dong, Y., and Ganther, H. (2002) New concepts in selenium chemoprevention. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **21**, 281-289
- 14. Wu, Y., Zhang, H., Dong, Y., Park, Y. M., and Ip, C. (2005) Endoplasmic reticulum stress signal mediators are targets of selenium action. *Cancer research* **65**, 9073-9079
- 15. Bera, S., De Rosa, V., Rachidi, W., and Diamond, A. M. (2013) Does a role for selenium in DNA damage repair explain apparent controversies in its use in chemoprevention? *Mutagenesis* **28**, 127-134
- 16. Kohrle, J. (2000) The deiodinase family: selenoenzymes regulating thyroid hormone availability and action. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* **57**, 1853-1863
- 17. Rayman, M. P. (2012) Selenium and human health. *Lancet* 379, 1256-1268
- 18. Avery, J. C., and Hoffmann, P. R. (2018) Selenium, Selenoproteins, and Immunity. *Nutrients* **10**, 1203
- 19. Turanov AA, M. M., Gladyshev VN. (2012) Selenium and male reproduction. in *Selenium: Its Molecular Biology and Role in Human Health* (Hatfield DL, B. M., Gladyshev VN ed.), 3 Ed., New York Springer. pp 409-417
- 20. Handy DE, L. J. (2012) Selenoproteins in cardiovascular redox pathology. in *Selenium: Its Molecular Biology and Role in Human Health* (Hatfield DL, B. M., Gladyshev VN ed.), 3 Ed., New York Springer. pp 249-259
- 21. Kaushal N, G. U., Nelson SM, Narayan V, Prabhu KS. (2012) Selenium and inflamation. in *Selenium: Its Molecular Biology and Role in Human Health* (Hatfield DL, B. M., Gladyshev VN ed.), 3 Ed., New York Springer. pp 443-456
- 22. Kudva, A. K., Shay, A. E., and Prabhu, K. S. (2015) Selenium and inflammatory bowel disease. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology* **309**, G71-G77
- 23. Moghadaszadeh, B., Petit, N., Jaillard, C., Brockington, M., Quijano Roy, S., Merlini, L., Romero, N., Estournet, B., Desguerre, I., Chaigne, D., Muntoni, F., Topaloglu, H., and Guicheney, P. (2001) Mutations in SEPN1 cause congenital muscular dystrophy with spinal rigidity and restrictive respiratory syndrome. *Nature genetics* **29**, 17-18
- 24. Labunskyy, V. M., Hatfield, D. L., and Gladyshev, V. N. (2014) Selenoproteins: Molecular Pathways and Physiological Roles. *Physiological Reviews* **94**, 739-777

52

- 25. Kryukov, G. V., Castellano, S., Novoselov, S. V., Lobanov, A. V., Zehtab, O., Guigo, R., and Gladyshev, V. N. (2003) Characterization of mammalian selenoproteomes. *Science* **300**, 1439-1443
- 26. Hatfield, D. L., and Gladyshev, V. N. (2002) How selenium has altered our understanding of the genetic code. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**, 3565-3576
- 27. Bansal, M. P., Oborn, C. J., Danielson, K. G., and Medina, D. (1989) Evidence for two selenium-binding proteins distinct from glutathione peroxidase in mouse liver. *Carcinogenesis* **10**, 541-546
- 28. Chang, P. W., Tsui, S. K., Liew, C., Lee, C. C., Waye, M. M., and Fung, K. P. (1997) Isolation, characterization, and chromosomal mapping of a novel cDNA clone encoding human selenium binding protein. *J Cell Biochem* **64**, 217-224
- 29. Yang, M., and Sytkowski, A. J. (1998) Differential expression and androgen regulation of the human selenium-binding protein gene hSP56 in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* **58**, 3150-3153
- 30. Flemetakis, E., Agalou, A., Kavroulakis, N., Dimou, M., Martsikovskaya, A., Slater, A., Spaink, H. P., Roussis, A., and Katinakis, P. (2002) Lotus japonicus gene Ljsbp is highly conserved among plants and animals and encodes a homologue to the mammalian selenium-binding proteins. *Molecular plant-microbe interactions : MPMI* **15**, 313-322
- 31. Lanfear, J., Fleming, J., Walker, M., and Harrison, P. (1993) Different patterns of regulation of the genes encoding the closely related 56 kDa selenium- and acetaminophenbinding proteins in normal tissues and during carcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* **14**, 335-340
- 32. Jeong, J. Y., Wang, Y., and Sytkowski, A. J. (2009) Human selenium binding protein-1 (hSP56) interacts with VDU1 in a selenium-dependent manner. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **379**, 583-588
- 33. Raucci, R., Colonna, G., Guerriero, E., Capone, F., Accardo, M., Castello, G., and Costantini, S. (2011) Structural and functional studies of the human selenium binding protein-1 and its involvement in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1814**, 513-522
- Ying, Q., Ansong, E., Diamond, A. M., and Yang, W. (2015) A Critical Role for Cysteine 57 in the Biological Functions of Selenium Binding Protein-1. *Int J Mol Sci* 16, 27599-27608
- 35. Li, Z., Na, X., Wang, D., Schoen, S. R., Messing, E. M., and Wu, G. (2002) Ubiquitination of a novel deubiquitinating enzyme requires direct binding to von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **277**, 4656-4662
- Pol, A., Renkema, G. H., Tangerman, A., Winkel, E. G., Engelke, U. F., de Brouwer, A. P. M., Lloyd, K. C., Araiza, R. S., van den Heuvel, L., Omran, H., Olbrich, H., Oude Elberink, M., Gilissen, C., Rodenburg, R. J., Sass, J. O., Schwab, K. O., Schafer, H., Venselaar, H.,

Sequeira, J. S., Op den Camp, H. J. M., and Wevers, R. A. (2018) Mutations in SELENBP1, encoding a novel human methanethiol oxidase, cause extraoral halitosis. *Nature genetics* **50**, 120-129

- 37. Barr, L. A., and Calvert, J. W. (2014) Discoveries of hydrogen sulfide as a novel cardiovascular therapeutic. *Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society* **78**, 2111-2118
- 38. Kohl, J. B., Mellis, A.-T., and Schwarz, G. (2019) Homeostatic impact of sulfite and hydrogen sulfide on cysteine catabolism. *British journal of pharmacology* **176**, 554-570
- Szabo, C., Ransy, C., Módis, K., Andriamihaja, M., Murghes, B., Coletta, C., Olah, G., Yanagi, K., and Bouillaud, F. (2014) Regulation of mitochondrial bioenergetic function by hydrogen sulfide. Part I. Biochemical and physiological mechanisms. *British journal of pharmacology* 171, 2099-2122
- 40. Bos, E. M., van Goor, H., Joles, J. A., Whiteman, M., and Leuvenink, H. G. (2015) Hydrogen sulfide: physiological properties and therapeutic potential in ischaemia. *British journal of pharmacology* **172**, 1479-1493
- 41. Wallace, J. L., and Wang, R. (2015) Hydrogen sulfide-based therapeutics: exploiting a unique but ubiquitous gasotransmitter. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery* **14**, 329-345
- 42. Ansong, E., Yang, W., and Diamond, A. M. (2014) Molecular cross-talk between members of distinct families of selenium containing proteins. *Mol Nutr Food Res* **58**, 117-123
- Brown, L. M., Helmke, S. M., Hunsucker, S. W., Netea-Maier, R. T., Chiang, S. A., Heinz, D. E., Shroyer, K. R., Duncan, M. W., and Haugen, B. R. (2006) Quantitative and qualitative differences in protein expression between papillary thyroid carcinoma and normal thyroid tissue. *Molecular carcinogenesis* 45, 613-626
- Tan, X., Liao, L., Wan, Y.-P., Li, M.-X., Chen, S.-H., Mo, W.-J., Zhao, Q.-L., Huang, L.-F., and Zeng, G.-Q. (2016) Downregulation of selenium-binding protein 1 is associated with poor prognosis in lung squamous cell carcinoma. *World journal of surgical oncology* 14, 70-70
- 45. Zhang, C., Xu, W., Pan, W., Wang, N., Li, G., Fan, X., Xu, X., Shen, S., and Das, U. N. (2013) Selenium-binding protein 1 may decrease gastric cellular proliferation and migration. *Int J Oncol* **42**, 1620-1629
- 46. Xia, Y. J., Ma, Y. Y., He, X. J., Wang, H. J., Ye, Z. Y., and Tao, H. Q. (2011) Suppression of selenium-binding protein 1 in gastric cancer is associated with poor survival. *Human pathology* **42**, 1620-1628
- 47. Huang, C., Ding, G., Gu, C., Zhou, J., Kuang, M., Ji, Y., He, Y., Kondo, T., and Fan, J. (2012) Decreased selenium-binding protein 1 enhances glutathione peroxidase 1 activity and downregulates HIF-1alpha to promote hepatocellular carcinoma invasiveness. *Clinical*

cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research **18**, 3042-3053

- 48. Ha, Y.-S., Lee, G. T., Kim, Y.-H., Kwon, S. Y., Choi, S. H., Kim, T.-H., Kwon, T. G., Yun, S. J., Kim, I. Y., and Kim, W.-J. (2014) Decreased selenium-binding protein 1 mRNA expression is associated with poor prognosis in renal cell carcinoma. *World journal of surgical oncology* **12**, 288-288
- 49. Zhang, C., Wang, Y. E., Zhang, P., Liu, F., Sung, C. J., Steinhoff, M. M., Quddus, M. R., and Lawrence, W. D. (2010) Progressive loss of selenium-binding protein 1 expression correlates with increasing epithelial proliferation and papillary complexity in ovarian serous borderline tumor and low-grade serous carcinoma. *Hum Pathol* **41**, 255-261
- Huang, K. C., Park, D. C., Ng, S. K., Lee, J. Y., Ni, X., Ng, W. C., Bandera, C. A., Welch, W. R., Berkowitz, R. S., Mok, S. C., and Ng, S. W. (2006) Selenium binding protein 1 in ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer* 118, 2433-2440
- 51. Stammer, K., Edassery, S. L., Barua, A., Bitterman, P., Bahr, J. M., Hales, D. B., and Luborsky, J. L. (2008) Selenium-Binding Protein 1 expression in ovaries and ovarian tumors in the laying hen, a spontaneous model of human ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* **109**, 115-121
- 52. Zhang, S., Li, F., Younes, M., Liu, H., Chen, C., and Yao, Q. (2013) Reduced seleniumbinding protein 1 in breast cancer correlates with poor survival and resistance to the antiproliferative effects of selenium. *PloS one* **8**, e63702-e63702
- 53. Ansong, E., Ying, Q., Ekoue, D. N., Deaton, R., Hall, A. R., Kajdacsy-Balla, A., Yang, W., Gann, P. H., and Diamond, A. M. (2015) Evidence that selenium binding protein 1 is a tumor suppressor in prostate cancer. *PloS one* **10**, e0127295-e0127295
- 54. Jeong, J. Y., Zhou, J. R., Gao, C., Feldman, L., and Sytkowski, A. J. (2014) Human selenium binding protein-1 (hSP56) is a negative regulator of HIF-1alpha and suppresses the malignant characteristics of prostate cancer cells. *BMB Rep* **47**, 411-416
- 55. Wang, N., Chen, Y., Yang, X., and Jiang, Y. (2014) Selenium-binding protein 1 is associated with the degree of colorectal cancer differentiation and is regulated by histone modification. *Oncology reports* **31**, 2506-2514
- 56. Pohl, N. M., Tong, C., Fang, W., Bi, X., Li, T., and Yang, W. (2009) Transcriptional regulation and biological functions of selenium-binding protein 1 in colorectal cancer in vitro and in nude mouse xenografts. *PloS one* **4**, e7774-e7774
- 57. Chen, F., Chen, C., Qu, Y., Xiang, H., Ai, Q., Yang, F., Tan, X., Zhou, Y., Jiang, G., and Zhang, Z. (2016) Selenium-binding protein 1 in head and neck cancer is low-expression and associates with the prognosis of nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Medicine* **95**, e4592-e4592
- 58. Wang, Y., Zhu, W., Chen, X., Wei, G., Jiang, G., and Zhang, G. (2020) Selenium-binding protein 1 transcriptionally activates p21 expression via p53-independent mechanism and

its frequent reduction associates with poor prognosis in bladder cancer. *Journal of translational medicine* **18**, 17-17

- 59. Schott, M., de Jel, M. M., Engelmann, J. C., Renner, P., Geissler, E. K., Bosserhoff, A. K., and Kuphal, S. (2018) Selenium-binding protein 1 is down-regulated in malignant melanoma. *Oncotarget* **9**, 10445-10456
- Kim, H., Kang, H. J., You, K. T., Kim, S. H., Lee, K. Y., Kim, T. I., Kim, C., Song, S. Y., Kim, H. J., Lee, C., and Kim, H. (2006) Suppression of human selenium-binding protein 1 is a late event in colorectal carcinogenesis and is associated with poor survival. *Proteomics* 6, 3466-3476
- Ansong, E., Ying, Q., Ekoue, D. N., Deaton, R., Hall, A. R., Kajdacsy-Balla, A., Yang, W., Gann, P. H., and Diamond, A. M. (2015) Evidence that selenium binding protein 1 is a tumor suppressor in prostate cancer. *PLoS One* 10, e0127295
- Xie, W., Yang, M., Chan, J., Sun, T., Mucci, L. A., Penney, K. L., Lee, G. S., and Kantoff, P. W. (2016) Association of genetic variations of selenoprotein genes, plasma selenium levels, and prostate cancer aggressiveness at diagnosis. *The Prostate* **76**, 691-699
- 63. Ying, Q., Ansong, E., Diamond, A. M., Lu, Z., Yang, W., and Bie, X. (2015) Quantitative proteomic analysis reveals that anti-cancer effects of selenium-binding protein 1 in vivo are associated with metabolic pathways. *PLoS One* **10**, e0126285
- 64. Gao, P. T., Ding, G. Y., Yang, X., Dong, R. Z., Hu, B., Zhu, X. D., Cai, J. B., Ji, Y., Shi, G. M., Shen, Y. H., Zhou, J., Fan, J., Sun, H. C., and Huang, C. (2018) Invasive potential of hepatocellular carcinoma is enhanced by loss of selenium-binding protein 1 and subsequent upregulation of CXCR4. *Am J Cancer Res* **8**, 1040-1049
- Caswell, D. R., Chuang, C.-H., Ma, R. K., Winters, I. P., Snyder, E. L., and Winslow, M. M. (2018) Tumor Suppressor Activity of Selenbp1, a Direct Nkx2-1 Target, in Lung Adenocarcinoma. *Molecular cancer research : MCR* 16, 1737-1749
- 66. Tsujimoto, S., Ishida, T., Takeda, T., Ishii, Y., Onomura, Y., Tsukimori, K., Takechi, S., Yamaguchi, T., Uchi, H., Suzuki, S. O., Yamamoto, M., Himeno, M., Furue, M., and Yamada, H. (2013) Selenium-binding protein 1: its physiological function, dependence on aryl hydrocarbon receptors, and role in wasting syndrome by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzop-dioxin. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1830, 3616-3624
- 67. Zhang, J., Zhan, N., and Dong, W. G. (2011) Altered expression of selenium-binding protein 1 in gastric carcinoma and precursor lesions. *Med Oncol* **28**, 951-957
- 68. Zeng, G.-Q., Yi, H., Zhang, P.-F., Li, X.-H., Hu, R., Li, M.-Y., Li, C., Qu, J.-Q., Deng, X., and Xiao, Z.-Q. (2013) The function and significance of SELENBP1 downregulation in human bronchial epithelial carcinogenic process. *PloS one* **8**, e71865-e71865

- Zhang, P., Zhang, C., Wang, X., Liu, F., Sung, C. J., Quddus, M. R., and Lawrence, W. D. (2010) The expression of selenium-binding protein 1 is decreased in uterine leiomyoma. *Diagn Pathol* 5, 80
- 70. Hiroshi, I., Masayuki, I., and Shosuke, K. (1991) Early decreases in pulmonary, hepatic and renal glutathione levels in response to cadmium instillation into rat trachea. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **11**, 211-217
- 71. Wang, Y., Fang, W., Huang, Y., Hu, F., Ying, Q., Yang, W., and Xiong, B. (2015) Reduction of selenium-binding protein 1 sensitizes cancer cells to selenite via elevating extracellular glutathione: a novel mechanism of cancer-specific cytotoxicity of selenite. *Free Radic Biol Med* **79**, 186-196
- 72. Porat, A., Sagiv, Y., and Elazar, Z. (2000) A 56-kDa selenium-binding protein participates in intra-Golgi protein transport. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 14457-14465
- 73. Miyaguchi, K. (2004) Localization of selenium-binding protein at the tips of rapidly extending protrusions. *Histochem Cell Biol* **121**, 371-376
- 74. Glatt, S. J., Everall, I. P., Kremen, W. S., Corbeil, J., Sasik, R., Khanlou, N., Han, M., Liew, C. C., and Tsuang, M. T. (2005) Comparative gene expression analysis of blood and brain provides concurrent validation of SELENBP1 up-regulation in schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 15533-15538
- 75. Kanazawa, T., Chana, G., Glatt, S. J., Mizuno, H., Masliah, E., Yoneda, H., Tsuang, M. T., and Everall, I. P. (2008) The utility of SELENBP1 gene expression as a biomarker for major psychotic disorders: replication in schizophrenia and extension to bipolar disorder with psychosis. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 147B, 686-689
- 76. Udawela, M., Money, T. T., Neo, J., Seo, M. S., Scarr, E., Dean, B., and Everall, I. P. (2015) SELENBP1 expression in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. *Translational psychiatry* **5**, e615-e615
- Kanazawa, T., Glatt, S. J., Faraone, S. V., Hwu, H. G., Yoneda, H., and Tsuang, M. T. (2009) Family-based association study of SELENBP1 in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* 113, 268-272
- Chau, E. J., Mostaid, M. S., Cropley, V., McGorry, P., Pantelis, C., Bousman, C. A., and Everall, I. P. (2018) Downregulation of plasma SELENBP1 protein in patients with recentonset schizophrenia. *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry* 85, 1-6
- Brauer, A. U., and Savaskan, N. E. (2004) Molecular actions of selenium in the brain: neuroprotective mechanisms of an essential trace element. *Reviews in the neurosciences* 15, 19-32

- 80. Xue, W., Du, P., Lin, S., Dudley, V. J., Hernandez, M. R., and Sarthy, V. P. (2011) Gene expression changes in retinal Muller (glial) cells exposed to elevated pressure. *Curr Eye Res* **36**, 754-767
- 81. Wang, J., Qu, D., An, J., Yuan, G., and Liu, Y. (2017) Integrated microarray analysis provided novel insights to the pathogenesis of glaucoma. *Molecular medicine reports* **16**, 8735-8746
- 82. Okunuki, Y., Usui, Y., Takeuchi, M., Kezuka, T., Hattori, T., Masuko, K., Nakamura, H., Yudoh, K., Usui, M., Nishioka, K., and Kato, T. (2007) Proteomic surveillance of autoimmunity in Behcet's disease with uveitis: selenium binding protein is a novel autoantigen in Behcet's disease. *Experimental eye research* **84**, 823-831
- Krause, I., and Weinberger, A. (2008) Behcet's disease. *Current opinion in rheumatology* 20, 82-87
- 84. Torrealba, J. R., Colburn, M., Golner, S., Chang, Z., Scheunemann, T., Fechner, J. H., Roenneburg, D., Hu, H., Alam, T., Kim, H. T., Kanmaz, T., Oberley, T., Knechtle, S. J., and Hamawy, M. M. (2005) Selenium-binding protein-1 in smooth muscle cells is downregulated in a rhesus monkey model of chronic allograft nephropathy. *Am J Transplant* 5, 58-67
- 85. Scortegagna, M., Martin, R. J., Kladney, R. D., Neumann, R. G., and Arbeit, J. M. (2009) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha suppresses squamous carcinogenic progression and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Cancer Res* **69**, 2638-2646
- 86. Semenza, G. L. (2003) Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 721-732
- Zhong, H., De Marzo, A. M., Laughner, E., Lim, M., Hilton, D. A., Zagzag, D., Buechler, P., Isaacs, W. B., Semenza, G. L., and Simons, J. W. (1999) Overexpression of hypoxiainducible factor 1alpha in common human cancers and their metastases. *Cancer research* 59, 5830-5835
- 88. Feldser, D., Agani, F., Iyer, N. V., Pak, B., Ferreira, G., and Semenza, G. L. (1999) Reciprocal positive regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha and insulin-like growth factor 2. *Cancer research* **59**, 3915-3918
- 89. Talks, K. L., Turley, H., Gatter, K. C., Maxwell, P. H., Pugh, C. W., Ratcliffe, P. J., and Harris, A. L. (2000) The expression and distribution of the hypoxia-inducible factors HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha in normal human tissues, cancers, and tumor-associated macrophages. *The American journal of pathology* **157**, 411-421
- 90. Birner, P., Schindl, M., Obermair, A., Plank, C., Breitenecker, G., and Oberhuber, G. (2000) Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha is a marker for an unfavorable prognosis in early-stage invasive cervical cancer. *Cancer research* **60**, 4693-4696
- 91. Burri, P., Djonov, V., Aebersold, D. M., Lindel, K., Studer, U., Altermatt, H. J., Mazzucchelli, L., Greiner, R. H., and Gruber, G. (2003) Significant correlation of hypoxia-

inducible factor-1alpha with treatment outcome in cervical cancer treated with radical radiotherapy. *International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics* **56**, 494-501

- 92. Bos, R., van der Groep, P., Greijer, A. E., Shvarts, A., Meijer, S., Pinedo, H. M., Semenza, G. L., van Diest, P. J., and van der Wall, E. (2003) Levels of hypoxia-inducible factorlalpha independently predict prognosis in patients with lymph node negative breast carcinoma. *Cancer* 97, 1573-1581
- 93. Schindl, M., Schoppmann, S. F., Samonigg, H., Hausmaninger, H., Kwasny, W., Gnant, M., Jakesz, R., Kubista, E., Birner, P., Oberhuber, G., Austrian, B., and Colorectal Cancer Study, G. (2002) Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha is associated with an unfavorable prognosis in lymph node-positive breast cancer. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 8, 1831-1837
- 94. Birner, P., Schindl, M., Obermair, A., Breitenecker, G., and Oberhuber, G. (2001) Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in epithelial ovarian tumors: its impact on prognosis and on response to chemotherapy. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* **7**, 1661-1668
- 95. Sivridis, E., Giatromanolaki, A., Gatter, K. C., Harris, A. L., Koukourakis, M. I., Tumor, and Angiogenesis Research, G. (2002) Association of hypoxia-inducible factors 1alpha and 2alpha with activated angiogenic pathways and prognosis in patients with endometrial carcinoma. *Cancer* **95**, 1055-1063
- 96. Takahashi, R., Tanaka, S., Hiyama, T., Ito, M., Kitadai, Y., Sumii, M., Haruma, K., and Chayama, K. (2003) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha expression and angiogenesis in gastrointestinal stromal tumor of the stomach. *Oncology reports* **10**, 797-802
- 97. Birner, P., Gatterbauer, B., Oberhuber, G., Schindl, M., Rossler, K., Prodinger, A., Budka, H., and Hainfellner, J. A. (2001) Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha in oligodendrogliomas: its impact on prognosis and on neoangiogenesis. *Cancer* **92**, 165-171
- 98. Beasley, N. J., Leek, R., Alam, M., Turley, H., Cox, G. J., Gatter, K., Millard, P., Fuggle, S., and Harris, A. L. (2002) Hypoxia-inducible factors HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha in head and neck cancer: relationship to tumor biology and treatment outcome in surgically resected patients. *Cancer research* **62**, 2493-2497
- 99. Volm, M., and Koomagi, R. (2000) Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1) and its relationship to apoptosis and proliferation in lung cancer. *Anticancer research* **20**, 1527-1533
- Fang, W., Goldberg, M. L., Pohl, N. M., Bi, X., Tong, C., Xiong, B., Koh, T. J., Diamond, A. M., and Yang, W. (2010) Functional and physical interaction between the seleniumbinding protein 1 (SBP1) and the glutathione peroxidase 1 selenoprotein. *Carcinogenesis* 31, 1360-1366
- 101. Pohl, N. M., Tong, C., Fang, W., Bi, X., Li, T., and Yang, W. (2009) Transcriptional regulation and biological functions of selenium-binding protein 1 in colorectal cancer in vitro and in nude mouse xenografts. *PLoS One* **4**, e7774

- 102. Chen, G., Wang, H., Miller, C. T., Thomas, D. G., Gharib, T. G., Misek, D. E., Giordano, T. J., Orringer, M. B., Hanash, S. M., and Beer, D. G. (2004) Reduced selenium-binding protein 1 expression is associated with poor outcome in lung adenocarcinomas. *J Pathol* 202, 321-329
- 103. Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., and Jemal, A. (2019) Cancer statistics, 2019. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 69, 7-34
- 104. Costello, L. C., Franklin, R. B., Feng, P., Tan, M., and Bagasra, O. (2005) Zinc and prostate cancer: a critical scientific, medical, and public interest issue (United States). *Cancer Causes Control* **16**, 901-915
- Costello, L. C., and Franklin, R. B. (2000) The intermediary metabolism of the prostate: a key to understanding the pathogenesis and progression of prostate malignancy. *Oncology* 59, 269-282
- 106. Zadra, G., Photopoulos, C., and Loda, M. (2013) The fat side of prostate cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1831**, 1518-1532
- 107. Eidelman, E., Twum-Ampofo, J., Ansari, J., and Siddiqui, M. M. (2017) The Metabolic Phenotype of Prostate Cancer. *Frontiers in oncology* **7**, 131-131
- 108. Elhodaky, M., and Diamond, A. M. (2018) Selenium-Binding Protein 1 in Human Health and Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* **19**, 3437
- 109. Kalderon, D., Richardson, W. D., Markham, A. F., and Smith, A. E. (1984) Sequence requirements for nuclear location of simian virus 40 large-T antigen. *Nature* **311**, 33-38
- 110. Lanford, R. E., and Butel, J. S. (1984) Construction and characterization of an SV40 mutant defective in nuclear transport of T antigen. *Cell* **37**, 801-813
- 111. Gerace, L. (1995) Nuclear export signals and the fast track to the cytoplasm. *Cell* **82**, 341-344
- 112. Divakaruni, A. S., Paradyse, A., Ferrick, D. A., Murphy, A. N., and Jastroch, M. (2014) Analysis and interpretation of microplate-based oxygen consumption and pH data. *Methods in enzymology* **547**, 309-354
- 113. Borowicz, S., Van Scoyk, M., Avasarala, S., Karuppusamy Rathinam, M. K., Tauler, J., Bikkavilli, R. K., and Winn, R. A. (2014) The soft agar colony formation assay. *Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE*, e51998-e51998
- 114. Garcia, D., and Shaw, R. J. (2017) AMPK: Mechanisms of Cellular Energy Sensing and Restoration of Metabolic Balance. *Mol Cell* **66**, 789-800
- 115. Wang, C., Ma, J., Zhang, N., Yang, Q., Jin, Y., and Wang, Y. (2015) The acetyl-CoA carboxylase enzyme: a target for cancer therapy? *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* **15**, 667-676
- 116. Rena, G., Hardie, D. G., and Pearson, E. R. (2017) The mechanisms of action of metformin. *Diabetologia* **60**, 1577-1585
- 117. Modis, K., Panopoulos, P., Coletta, C., Papapetropoulos, A., and Szabo, C. (2013) Hydrogen sulfide-mediated stimulation of mitochondrial electron transport involves inhibition of the mitochondrial phosphodiesterase 2A, elevation of cAMP and activation of protein kinase A. *Biochem Pharmacol* **86**, 1311-1319
- 118. Szabo, C., Ransy, C., Modis, K., Andriamihaja, M., Murghes, B., Coletta, C., Olah, G., Yanagi, K., and Bouillaud, F. (2014) Regulation of mitochondrial bioenergetic function by hydrogen sulfide. Part I. Biochemical and physiological mechanisms. *British journal of pharmacology* **171**, 2099-2122
- 119. Szabo, C., Coletta, C., Chao, C., Modis, K., Szczesny, B., Papapetropoulos, A., and Hellmich, M. R. (2013) Tumor-derived hydrogen sulfide, produced by cystathionine-betasynthase, stimulates bioenergetics, cell proliferation, and angiogenesis in colon cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **110**, 12474-12479
- 120. Walesky, C., and Apte, U. (2015) Role of hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha (HNF4alpha) in cell proliferation and cancer. *Gene Expr* **16**, 101-108
- 121. Gonzalez, F. J. (2008) Regulation of hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 alpha-mediated transcription. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* **23**, 2-7
- 122. Meng, J., Feng, M., Dong, W., Zhu, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, P., Wu, L., Li, M., Lu, Y., Chen, H., Liu, X., Lu, Y., Sun, H., and Tong, X. (2016) Identification of HNF-4α as a key transcription factor to promote ChREBP expression in response to glucose. *Scientific reports* 6, 23944-23944
- Rhodes, D. R., Kalyana-Sundaram, S., Mahavisno, V., Varambally, R., Yu, J., Briggs, B. B., Barrette, T. R., Anstet, M. J., Kincead-Beal, C., Kulkarni, P., Varambally, S., Ghosh, D., and Chinnaiyan, A. M. (2007) Oncomine 3.0: genes, pathways, and networks in a collection of 18,000 cancer gene expression profiles. *Neoplasia* 9, 166-180
- 124. Yu, Y. P., Landsittel, D., Jing, L., Nelson, J., Ren, B., Liu, L., McDonald, C., Thomas, R., Dhir, R., Finkelstein, S., Michalopoulos, G., Becich, M., and Luo, J. H. (2004) Gene expression alterations in prostate cancer predicting tumor aggression and preceding development of malignancy. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 22, 2790-2799
- 125. Welsh, J. B., Sapinoso, L. M., Su, A. I., Kern, S. G., Wang-Rodriguez, J., Moskaluk, C. A., Frierson, H. F., Jr., and Hampton, G. M. (2001) Analysis of gene expression identifies candidate markers and pharmacological targets in prostate cancer. *Cancer research* 61, 5974-5978
- 126. Singh, D., Febbo, P. G., Ross, K., Jackson, D. G., Manola, J., Ladd, C., Tamayo, P., Renshaw, A. A., D'Amico, A. V., Richie, J. P., Lander, E. S., Loda, M., Kantoff, P. W.,

Golub, T. R., and Sellers, W. R. (2002) Gene expression correlates of clinical prostate cancer behavior. *Cancer cell* **1**, 203-209

- 127. Holzbeierlein, J., Lal, P., LaTulippe, E., Smith, A., Satagopan, J., Zhang, L., Ryan, C., Smith, S., Scher, H., Scardino, P., Reuter, V., and Gerald, W. L. (2004) Gene expression analysis of human prostate carcinoma during hormonal therapy identifies androgen-responsive genes and mechanisms of therapy resistance. *The American journal of pathology* **164**, 217-227
- 128. Arredouani, M. S., Lu, B., Bhasin, M., Eljanne, M., Yue, W., Mosquera, J. M., Bubley, G. J., Li, V., Rubin, M. A., Libermann, T. A., and Sanda, M. G. (2009) Identification of the transcription factor single-minded homologue 2 as a potential biomarker and immunotherapy target in prostate cancer. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 15, 5794-5802
- 129. Grasso, C. S., Wu, Y. M., Robinson, D. R., Cao, X., Dhanasekaran, S. M., Khan, A. P., Quist, M. J., Jing, X., Lonigro, R. J., Brenner, J. C., Asangani, I. A., Ateeq, B., Chun, S. Y., Siddiqui, J., Sam, L., Anstett, M., Mehra, R., Prensner, J. R., Palanisamy, N., Ryslik, G. A., Vandin, F., Raphael, B. J., Kunju, L. P., Rhodes, D. R., Pienta, K. J., Chinnaiyan, A. M., and Tomlins, S. A. (2012) The mutational landscape of lethal castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Nature* **487**, 239-243
- LaTulippe, E., Satagopan, J., Smith, A., Scher, H., Scardino, P., Reuter, V., and Gerald, W. L. (2002) Comprehensive gene expression analysis of prostate cancer reveals distinct transcriptional programs associated with metastatic disease. *Cancer research* 62, 4499-4506
- 131. Lapointe, J., Li, C., Higgins, J. P., van de Rijn, M., Bair, E., Montgomery, K., Ferrari, M., Egevad, L., Rayford, W., Bergerheim, U., Ekman, P., DeMarzo, A. M., Tibshirani, R., Botstein, D., Brown, P. O., Brooks, J. D., and Pollack, J. R. (2004) Gene expression profiling identifies clinically relevant subtypes of prostate cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101, 811-816
- 132. Liu, P., Ramachandran, S., Ali Seyed, M., Scharer, C. D., Laycock, N., Dalton, W. B., Williams, H., Karanam, S., Datta, M. W., Jaye, D. L., and Moreno, C. S. (2006) Sexdetermining region Y box 4 is a transforming oncogene in human prostate cancer cells. *Cancer research* 66, 4011-4019
- 133. Luo, J. H., Yu, Y. P., Cieply, K., Lin, F., Deflavia, P., Dhir, R., Finkelstein, S., Michalopoulos, G., and Becich, M. (2002) Gene expression analysis of prostate cancers. *Molecular carcinogenesis* **33**, 25-35
- 134. Magee, J. A., Araki, T., Patil, S., Ehrig, T., True, L., Humphrey, P. A., Catalona, W. J., Watson, M. A., and Milbrandt, J. (2001) Expression profiling reveals hepsin overexpression in prostate cancer. *Cancer research* **61**, 5692-5696
- 135. Taylor, B. S., Schultz, N., Hieronymus, H., Gopalan, A., Xiao, Y., Carver, B. S., Arora, V. K., Kaushik, P., Cerami, E., Reva, B., Antipin, Y., Mitsiades, N., Landers, T., Dolgalev, I.,

Major, J. E., Wilson, M., Socci, N. D., Lash, A. E., Heguy, A., Eastham, J. A., Scher, H. I., Reuter, V. E., Scardino, P. T., Sander, C., Sawyers, C. L., and Gerald, W. L. (2010) Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. *Cancer cell* **18**, 11-22

- 136. Tomlins, S. A., Mehra, R., Rhodes, D. R., Cao, X., Wang, L., Dhanasekaran, S. M., Kalyana-Sundaram, S., Wei, J. T., Rubin, M. A., Pienta, K. J., Shah, R. B., and Chinnaiyan, A. M. (2007) Integrative molecular concept modeling of prostate cancer progression. *Nature genetics* 39, 41-51
- 137. Varambally, S., Yu, J., Laxman, B., Rhodes, D. R., Mehra, R., Tomlins, S. A., Shah, R. B., Chandran, U., Monzon, F. A., Becich, M. J., Wei, J. T., Pienta, K. J., Ghosh, D., Rubin, M. A., and Chinnaiyan, A. M. (2005) Integrative genomic and proteomic analysis of prostate cancer reveals signatures of metastatic progression. *Cancer cell* 8, 393-406
- 138. Lamba, J., Lamba, V., Strom, S., Venkataramanan, R., and Schuetz, E. (2008) Novel single nucleotide polymorphisms in the promoter and intron 1 of human pregnane X receptor/NR1I2 and their association with CYP3A4 expression. *Drug Metab Dispos* 36, 169-181
- 139. Foretz, M., Carling, D., Guichard, C., Ferré, P., and Foufelle, F. (1998) AMP-activated protein kinase inhibits the glucose-activated expression of fatty acid synthase gene in rat hepatocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **273**, 14767-14771
- Henin, N., Vincent, M. F., Gruber, H. E., and Van den Berghe, G. (1995) Inhibition of fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis by stimulation of AMP-activated protein kinase. *FASEB J* 9, 541-546
- Woods, A., Cheung, P. C., Smith, F. C., Davison, M. D., Scott, J., Beri, R. K., and Carling, D. (1996) Characterization of AMP-activated protein kinase beta and gamma subunits. Assembly of the heterotrimeric complex in vitro. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 271, 10282-10290
- 142. Gao, G., Fernandez, C. S., Stapleton, D., Auster, A. S., Widmer, J., Dyck, J. R., Kemp, B. E., and Witters, L. A. (1996) Non-catalytic beta- and gamma-subunit isoforms of the 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 271, 8675-8681
- 143. Thornton, C., Snowden, M. A., and Carling, D. (1998) Identification of a novel AMPactivated protein kinase beta subunit isoform that is highly expressed in skeletal muscle. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **273**, 12443-12450
- 144. Salt, I., Celler, J. W., Hawley, S. A., Prescott, A., Woods, A., Carling, D., and Hardie, D. G. (1998) AMP-activated protein kinase: greater AMP dependence, and preferential nuclear localization, of complexes containing the alpha2 isoform. *Biochem J* 334 (Pt 1), 177-187
- 145. Kodiha, M., Rassi, J. G., Brown, C. M., and Stochaj, U. (2007) Localization of AMP kinase is regulated by stress, cell density, and signaling through the MEK-->ERK1/2 pathway. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **293**, C1427-C1436

- 146. Wright, J. L., and Stanford, J. L. (2009) Metformin use and prostate cancer in Caucasian men: results from a population-based case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control* 20, 1617-1622
- 147. Margel, D., Urbach, D. R., Lipscombe, L. L., Bell, C. M., Kulkarni, G., Austin, P. C., and Fleshner, N. (2013) Metformin use and all-cause and prostate cancer-specific mortality among men with diabetes. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **31**, 3069-3075
- 148. He, X. X., Tu, S. M., Lee, M. H., and Yeung, S. C. (2011) Thiazolidinediones and metformin associated with improved survival of diabetic prostate cancer patients. *Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology* **22**, 2640-2645
- 149. Murtola, T. J., Tammela, T. L., Lahtela, J., and Auvinen, A. (2008) Antidiabetic medication and prostate cancer risk: a population-based case-control study. *American journal of epidemiology* **168**, 925-931
- 150. Ruiter, R., Visser, L. E., van Herk-Sukel, M. P., Coebergh, J. W., Haak, H. R., Geelhoed-Duijvestijn, P. H., Straus, S. M., Herings, R. M., and Stricker, B. H. (2012) Lower risk of cancer in patients on metformin in comparison with those on sulfonylurea derivatives: results from a large population-based follow-up study. *Diabetes care* **35**, 119-124
- Preston, M. A., Riis, A. H., Ehrenstein, V., Breau, R. H., Batista, J. L., Olumi, A. F., Mucci, L. A., Adami, H. O., and Sorensen, H. T. (2014) Metformin use and prostate cancer risk. *European urology* 66, 1012-1020
- 152. Ben Sahra, I., Laurent, K., Loubat, A., Giorgetti-Peraldi, S., Colosetti, P., Auberger, P., Tanti, J. F., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., and Bost, F. (2008) The antidiabetic drug metformin exerts an antitumoral effect in vitro and in vivo through a decrease of cyclin D1 level. *Oncogene* **27**, 3576-3586
- 153. Demir, U., Koehler, A., Schneider, R., Schweiger, S., and Klocker, H. (2014) Metformin anti-tumor effect via disruption of the MID1 translational regulator complex and AR downregulation in prostate cancer cells. *BMC cancer* 14, 52-52
- 154. Xiang, X., Saha, A. K., Wen, R., Ruderman, N. B., and Luo, Z. (2004) AMP-activated protein kinase activators can inhibit the growth of prostate cancer cells by multiple mechanisms. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **321**, 161-167
- 155. Colquhoun, A. J., Venier, N. A., Vandersluis, A. D., Besla, R., Sugar, L. M., Kiss, A., Fleshner, N. E., Pollak, M., Klotz, L. H., and Venkateswaran, V. (2012) Metformin enhances the antiproliferative and apoptotic effect of bicalutamide in prostate cancer. *Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases* **15**, 346-352
- 156. Kashfi, K. (2014) Anti-cancer activity of new designer hydrogen sulfide-donating hybrids. *Antioxidants & redox signaling* **20**, 831-846

- 157. Hellmich, M. R., Coletta, C., Chao, C., and Szabo, C. (2015) The therapeutic potential of cystathionine beta-synthetase/hydrogen sulfide inhibition in cancer. *Antioxidants & redox signaling* **22**, 424-448
- 158. Liu, M., Wu, L., Montaut, S., and Yang, G. (2016) Hydrogen Sulfide Signaling Axis as a Target for Prostate Cancer Therapeutics. *Prostate cancer* **2016**, 8108549-8108549
- 159. Vartapetov, B. A., Novikova, N. V., and Trandofilova, G. M. (1977) [Gonadal dysfunction and the thiol compound metabolism in the testes and prostate]. *Zhurnal eksperimental'noi i klinicheskoi meditsiny* **17**, 9-15
- 160. Stabler, S., Koyama, T., Zhao, Z., Martinez-Ferrer, M., Allen, R. H., Luka, Z., Loukachevitch, L. V., Clark, P. E., Wagner, C., and Bhowmick, N. A. (2011) Serum methionine metabolites are risk factors for metastatic prostate cancer progression. *PloS one* 6, e22486-e22486
- 161. Pei, Y., Wu, B., Cao, Q., Wu, L., and Yang, G. (2011) Hydrogen sulfide mediates the antisurvival effect of sulforaphane on human prostate cancer cells. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* **257**, 420-428
- 162. Duan, F., Li, Y., Chen, L., Zhou, X., Chen, J., Chen, H., and Li, R. (2015) Sulfur inhibits the growth of androgen-independent prostate cancer in vivo. *Oncology letters* **9**, 437-441
- 163. Zhao, K., Li, S., Wu, L., Lai, C., and Yang, G. (2014) Hydrogen sulfide represses androgen receptor transactivation by targeting at the second zinc finger module. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **289**, 20824-20835
- 164. Huggins, C., and Hodges, C. V. (1972) Studies on prostatic cancer. I. The effect of castration, of estrogen and androgen injection on serum phosphatases in metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. *CA Cancer J Clin* **22**, 232-240
- 165. Lonergan, P. E., and Tindall, D. J. (2011) Androgen receptor signaling in prostate cancer development and progression. *Journal of carcinogenesis* **10**, 20-20
- 166. Massie, C. E., Lynch, A., Ramos-Montoya, A., Boren, J., Stark, R., Fazli, L., Warren, A., Scott, H., Madhu, B., Sharma, N., Bon, H., Zecchini, V., Smith, D. M., Denicola, G. M., Mathews, N., Osborne, M., Hadfield, J., Macarthur, S., Adryan, B., Lyons, S. K., Brindle, K. M., Griffiths, J., Gleave, M. E., Rennie, P. S., Neal, D. E., and Mills, I. G. (2011) The androgen receptor fuels prostate cancer by regulating central metabolism and biosynthesis. *The EMBO journal* **30**, 2719-2733
- 167. Sharma, N. L., Massie, C. E., Ramos-Montoya, A., Zecchini, V., Scott, H. E., Lamb, A. D., MacArthur, S., Stark, R., Warren, A. Y., Mills, I. G., and Neal, D. E. (2013) The androgen receptor induces a distinct transcriptional program in castration-resistant prostate cancer in man. *Cancer cell* 23, 35-47
- 168. Bader, D. A., Hartig, S. M., Putluri, V., Foley, C., Hamilton, M. P., Smith, E. A., Saha, P. K., Panigrahi, A., Walker, C., Zong, L., Martini-Stoica, H., Chen, R., Rajapakshe, K.,

Coarfa, C., Sreekumar, A., Mitsiades, N., Bankson, J. A., Ittmann, M. M., O'Malley, B. W., Putluri, N., and McGuire, S. E. (2019) Mitochondrial pyruvate import is a metabolic vulnerability in androgen receptor-driven prostate cancer. *Nature metabolism* **1**, 70-85

- 169. Green, S. M., Mostaghel, E. A., and Nelson, P. S. (2012) Androgen action and metabolism in prostate cancer. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* **360**, 3-13
- 170. Barfeld, S. J., Itkonen, H. M., Urbanucci, A., and Mills, I. G. (2014) Androgen-regulated metabolism and biosynthesis in prostate cancer. *Endocrine-related cancer* **21**, T57-66
- 171. Hong, Y. H., Varanasi, U. S., Yang, W., and Leff, T. (2003) AMP-activated Protein Kinase Regulates HNF4α Transcriptional Activity by Inhibiting Dimer Formation and Decreasing Protein Stability. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 27495-27501
- 172. Reyes-Hernández, O. D., Vega, L., Jiménez-Ríos, M. A., Martínez-Cervera, P. F., Lugo-García, J. A., Hernández-Cadena, L., Ostrosky-Wegman, P., Orozco, L., and Elizondo, G. (2014) The PXR rs7643645 polymorphism is associated with the risk of higher prostate-specific antigen levels in prostate cancer patients. *PloS one* 9, e99974-e99974
- 173. Waxman, D. J., Attisano, C., Guengerich, F. P., and Lapenson, D. P. (1988) Human liver microsomal steroid metabolism: identification of the major microsomal steroid hormone 6 beta-hydroxylase cytochrome P-450 enzyme. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **263**, 424-436
- 174. Brian, W. R., Sari, M. A., Iwasaki, M., Shimada, T., Kaminsky, L. S., and Guengerich, F. P. (1990) Catalytic activities of human liver cytochrome P-450 IIIA4 expressed in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Biochemistry* 29, 11280-11292
- 175. Sundin, M., Warner, M., Haaparanta, T., and Gustafsson, J. A. (1987) Isolation and catalytic activity of cytochrome P-450 from ventral prostate of control rats. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **262**, 12293-12297
- 176. Vinceti, M., Filippini, T., Del Giovane, C., Dennert, G., Zwahlen, M., Brinkman, M., Zeegers, M. P., Horneber, M., D'Amico, R., and Crespi, C. M. (2018) Selenium for preventing cancer. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* **1**, CD005195-CD005195
- 177. Ellwood-Yen, K., Graeber, T. G., Wongvipat, J., Iruela-Arispe, M. L., Zhang, J., Matusik, R., Thomas, G. V., and Sawyers, C. L. (2003) Myc-driven murine prostate cancer shares molecular features with human prostate tumors. *Cancer cell* **4**, 223-238
- 178. Nandana, S., Ellwood-Yen, K., Sawyers, C., Wills, M., Weidow, B., Case, T., Vasioukhin, V., and Matusik, R. (2010) Hepsin cooperates with MYC in the progression of adenocarcinoma in a prostate cancer mouse model. *The Prostate* **70**, 591-600

APPENDIX



Mostafa Elhodaky <melhod2@uic.edu>

Re: MDPI Contact Form: Requesting permission to re-use my IJMS published article

1 message

support@mdpi.com <support@mdpi.com>
To: Mostafa Elhodaky <melhod2@uic.edu>

Wed, Sep 18, 2019 at 8:56 PM

Dear Mostafa,

Thank you for your email. As author of the paper and given that you are the owner of the copyrights, you are entitled to reproduce it in other publications. Please only remember to refer to the work properly.

Kind regards, Dimity

On 2019/9/19 0:20, Mostafa Elhodaky wrote: Greetings,

My review article entitled "Selenium-Binding Protein 1 in Human Health and Disease" was published in the IJMS last year (Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2018, 19(11), 3437). I am requesting permission to re-use the article as a chapter in my doctoral thesis.

I look forward to hearing back from you.

Best regards,

Mostafa Elhodaky Ph.D. Candidate (GY-4), Department of Pathology University of Illinois at Chicago 909 S. Wolcott Ave. | Chicago, IL 60612 | MC847 Email: melhod2@uic.edu

APPENDIX (continued)

MDPI | Rights & Permissions

3-4 minutes

url=https://www.mdpi.com/authors/rights 9/19/2019, 9:24 AM

Copyright and Licensing

For all articles published in MDPI journals, copyright is retained by the authors. Articles are licensed under an open access Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license, meaning that anyone may download and read the paper for free. In addition, the article may be reused and quoted provided that the original published version is cited. These conditions allow for maximum use and exposure of the work, while ensuring that the authors receive proper credit.

In exceptional circumstances articles may be licensed differently. If you have specific condition (such as one linked to funding) that does not allow this license, please mention this to the editorial office of the journal at submission. Exceptions will be granted at the discretion of the publisher.

Reproducing Published Material from other Publishers

It is absolutely essential that authors obtain permission to reproduce any published material (figures, schemes, tables or any extract of a text) which does not fall into the public domain, or for which they do not hold the copyright. Permission should be requested by the authors from the copyrightholder (usually the Publisher, please refer to the imprint of the individual publications to identify the copyrightholder).

Permission is required for:

- 1. Your own works published by other Publishers and for which you did not retain copyright.
- 2. Substantial extracts from anyones' works or a series of works.
- 3. Use of Tables, Graphs, Charts, Schemes and Artworks if they are unaltered or slightly modified.
- 4. Photographs for which you do not hold copyright.

Permission is not required for:

- 1. Reconstruction of your *own* table with data already published elsewhere. Please notice that in this case you must cite the source of the data in the form of either "Data from..." or "Adapted from...".
- 2. Reasonably short quotes are considered *fair use* and therefore do not require permission.

APPENDIX (continued)

2 of 2

url=https://www.mdpi.com/authors/rights 9/19/2019, 9:24 AM

3. Graphs, Charts, Schemes and Artworks that are completely redrawn by the authors and significantly changed beyond recognition do not require permission.

Obtaining Permission

In order to avoid unnecessary delays in the publication process, you should start obtaining permissions as early as possible. If in any doubt about the copyright, apply for permission. MDPI cannot publish material from other publications without permission.

The copyright holder may give you instructions on the form of acknowledgement to be followed; otherwise follow the style: "Reproduced with permission from [author], [book/journal title]; published by [publisher], [year].' at the end of the caption of the Table, Figure or Scheme.

APPENDIX (continued)

Oncomine Source for the *in silico* analysis referred to in page 38 (copy and paste into the web browser):

https://software.oncomine.com/resource/main.html#ac:1863,1998,2438,8158,1879,5481,1983,59 05,1990,1887,1895,1894,1947,1878;dso:foldChangeOverex;ec:[2,3];et:over;g:3172;pg:1;pvf:348 3,3521,14782,150004;scr:datasets;th:g100.0,p0.050,fc0.0;v:18

MOSTAFA M. ELHODAKY

EDUCATION

University of Illinois at Chicago, *Chicago, IL* Ph.D., Pathology, 2020

Tanta University, *Tanta, Egypt* M.D., 2011

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Elhodaky, M., and Diamond, A. M. (2018) Selenium-Binding Protein 1 in Human Health and Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* **19**, 3437
- Iriondo, O., Liu, Y., Lee, G., Elhodaky, M., Jimenez, C., Li, L., Lang, J., Wang, P., and Yu, M. (2018) TAK1 mediates microenvironment-triggered autocrine signals and promotes triplenegative breast cancer lung metastasis. *Nat Commun* 9, 1994-1994
- Forte, V. A., Barrak, D. K., Elhodaky, M., Tung, L., Snow, A., and Lang, J. E. (2016) The potential for liquid biopsies in the precision medical treatment of breast cancer. *Cancer Biol Med* 13, 19-40

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2011 - 2012	Medical Intern, Tanta University, Tanta, Egypt
2012 - 2012	Primary Care Physician, Ministry of Health, Cairo, Egypt
2012 - 2013	Teaching Assistant, Tanta University Faculty of Medicine (Department of
	Forensic Medicine and Clinical Toxicology), Tanta, Egypt
2012 - 2013	Resident Physician, Tanta University Emergency Hospital (Department of
	Forensic Medicine and Clinical Toxicology), Tanta, Egypt
2013 - 2014	Visiting Research Fellow, Children's Hospital Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA
2014 - 2014	Clinical Laboratory Technician, PAREXEL International, Glendale, CA
2014 - 2016	Research Technician II, Norris Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of
	Southern California, Los Angeles, CA

FELLOWSHIPS AND AWARDS

2019 - 2020	CCTS Pre-doctoral Education for Clinical and Translational Scientists
	Fellowship, University of Illinois College of Medicine
2019	Chancellor's Student Service and Leadership Award, University of Illinois at
	Chicago
2018	Travel award, Graduate Student Council, University of Illinois, Chicago, IL
2004 - 2011	Excellent Student Award, Tanta University, Egypt

LEADERSHIP, CERTIFICATIONS, AND PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS

- 2019 2020 Representative of the Department of Pathology, UIC Graduate Student Council (GSC), Chicago, IL
- 2019 ECFMG Certification
- 2019 Member, American Society for Clinical Pathology
- 2019 Member, United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology
- 2019 Member, Chicago Pathology Society
- 2019 Member, American Urological Association
- 2019 Associate Member, American Association for Cancer Research

ABSTRACTS AND PRESENTATIONS

- 1. **Elhodaky, M.**, Hong, L., & Diamond, A. (June, 2019). Selenium-binding protein 1 reduces oxygen consumption and activates AMPK in prostate cancer cells. Oral Presentation presented at: The American Society of Nutrition Annual National Conference; Baltimore, MD
- Elhodaky, M., Ekoue, D., Ansong, E., Hong, L., Nonn, L., & Diamond, A. (October, 2018). The role of selenium-binding protein 1 (SBP1) in the metabolism of human prostate cancer cells. Poster presented at: The Annual Research Symposium of the Graduate Education in Medical Sciences Program, University of Illinois at Chicago; Chicago, IL
- Elhodaky, M., Ekoue, D., Ansong, E., Hong, L., Nonn. L, & Diamond, A. (June, 2018). Selenium-binding protein 1 (SBP1) alters the metabolism of human prostate cancer cells (P26-013). Poster presented at: The American Society of Nutrition Annual National Conference; Boston, MA
- Iriondo, O., Elhodaky, M., Liu, Y., Lee, G., Lang, J.E., Wang, P., & Yu, M. (April, 2017). TAK1 mediated IL1 expression as autocrine signaling to promote breast cancer metastasis (Abstract 4857). Poster presented at: The American Association for Cancer Research Annual National Meeting; Washington, D.C., DC
- 5. Iriondo, O., Liu, Y., **Elhodaky, M.**, Li, L., Lang, J.E., Wang, P., Yu, M. (April, 2016). TAK1: a potential target in the treatment of breast cancer metastasis (Abstract nr 918). Poster presented at: The American Association for Cancer Research Annual National Meeting; New Orleans, LA
- Iriondo, O., Li, L., Elhodaky, M., & Yu, M. (May, 2015). Influence of hypoxia signaling in the tumorigenicity of circulating tumor cells. Poster presented at: The Annual Symposium of Stem Cell and Regenerative Medicine Department, University of Southern California; Santa Barbara, CA
- Iriondo, O., Liu, Y., Elhdoaky, M., Li, L., Lang, J., Wang, P., & Yu, M. (May, 2015). TAK1 is a potential target in the treatment of breast cancer metastasis. Poster presented at: The Annual Symposium of Stem Cell and Regenerative Medicine Department, University of Southern California; Santa Barbara, CA